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The theme that we chose for this Annual Report 
is ‘Embracing Change’.  This has indeed been the 
recurring theme in all our endeavours during the 
past financial year, and I am pleased to say that SAQA 
has embraced change in a positive and proactive 
manner, in preparing for the new NQF landscape, 
ensuring that proper transitional arrangements are 
in place, and in ensuring stability in the system, 
during the interim.

SAQA’s role in the new NQF landscape will be to 
give intellectual leadership and to ensure that the 
NQF is underpinned by systemic coordination, 
coherence and resource alignment, keeping in 
mind that NQFs should enable the development 
of relevant and appropriate qualifications, which 
address both national and personal needs. The NQF 
should also bring about improvements in quality 
assurance systems, and monitoring and evaluation 
of progress towards national education and training 
objectives.  

To prepare for the above new role, we have actively 
engaged with the legislation and submitted 
constructive comments at every given opportunity, 
including a presentation to the Education and 
Labour Portfolio Committees. In addition, we 
worked tirelessly with our key partners in various 
fora, to ensure proper handover and an orderly 
transition.

The South African NQF is now ‘coming of age’, 
with citizens much more familiar with its workings. 
However, we have to enable the population to find 
their way in a complicated system, by making a set 
of navigational tools available, including a concerted 
effort to coordinate career guidance and counselling 
and improve the quality of these services. SAQA has 
already done substantial preparatory work in terms 
of a national helpline for career advice services and 
will continue with this work in the new financial 
year, in consultation with all role players.

In terms of SAQA’s intellectual leadership role, we 
entered into a number of research partnerships with 
educational institutions and continued our work in 
terms of those partnerships already entered into in 
the previous financial year.  

We initiated and encouraged critical debates on 
a number of work and learning-related issues, 
through a series of events, including the following:

�the annual NQF Colloquium, where Prof. Knud •	
Illeris addressed us and we explored the 
challenges posed in relation to learning at work, 
workplace learning and learning in work life 
�
�the 8th annual Chairperson’s Lecture was held on •	
29 September 2008. The lecture entitled “Career  
Guidance: Challenges and Opportunities” 
focused on the need for a coherent career 
guidance system in South Africa and the role that 
SAQA could play in this regard. It was presented 
by a world authority, Professor Tony Watts from 
Cambridge, UK. It was attended by a broad 
spectrum of delegates including academics, 
government department officials, SETA 
personnel as well as career guidance specialists   

�a series of breakfast seminars on Researching •	
Work and Learning (RWL), which we co-hosted 
with the University of the Western Cape, the 
Durban University of Technology and the 
INSETA. They included a series of workshops with 
Canadian, Dr. Jenny Horsman who addressed  
the issues of women, work and learning with 

Prof Shirley Walters

Foreword by the 
Chairperson of SAQA
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specific emphasis on the impact of violence 
on learning;   a workshop on work-integrated 
learning presented by Mr. Shakeel Ori, and 
workshops with Prof Illeris on Learning@work 
and Prof Watts on Career Development. 

On 27 October 2008, SAQA and the broader 
education and training community, suffered a great 
loss when Prof. Ben Parker, SAQA’s research director, 
passed away.  Prof. Parker has made a substantial 
contribution to the shaping of our research agenda 
and our thinking, and we wish to celebrate his life 
and the contribution that he made, through an 
annual Ben Parker Memorial Lecture.

I wish to recognise the contributions of the 
Authority, and of Samuel Isaacs, Executive Officer, 
Joe Samuels, Deputy Executive Officer, and SAQA 
management who gave stable leadership in a time 
of uncertainty and change, and that of all SAQA 
staff, in realising these achievements and embracing 
change.

I also wish to recognise the efforts of all SAQA’s 
partners, especially the Departments and Ministries 
of Education and Labour and the three emergent 
Quality Councils, who have worked together with 
SAQA in the development and implementation of the 
NQF as a system of communication, coordination 
and collaboration, in the last financial year.

Prof. S Walters
Chairperson: SAQA
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During the year under review, we have made great 
strides towards the implementation of the new NQF 
landscape. The NQF Act and related legislation (the 
Higher Education Amendment Act, the General and 
Further Education Amendment Act, and the Skills 
Development Act), were published, widely consulted 
and finally promulgated on 19 February 2009. 

The new legislation is aimed at addressing the 
allocation of responsibility, resolving tensions 
among important role players, and simplifying the 
NQF apparatus in order to speed up the achievement 
of NQF objectives.

The NQF Act secures an oversight and leadership 
role for SAQA as custodian of the values of the 
NQF, and SAQA has in the past financial year, 
already started to play that role in a proactive 
manner by engaging  constructively with the new 
NQF legislation and making constructive inputs  
towards shaping the future of the NQF.  It has also 

engaged with its key partners on issues of mutual 
interest, through its Transitional Task Teams and 
bilateral meetings with the various partners, and 
also various discussions with myself and the DG, 
and with other senior officials in the Department 
of Education.

SAQA has further done valuable work in the SADC 
region, in terms of technical support to the SADC 
Secretariat for the completion of a study on the 
benchmarking of quality assurance across the 
SADC region, its contribution to the development 
of a draft set of quality assurance guidelines, and 
also in terms of the development of the proposed 
SADC regional qualifications framework. 

I have to commend Prof. Shirley Walters, Chairperson 
of SAQA, for her strong leadership, and the Authority 
and staff of SAQA for their positive approach and 
active engagement with SAQA’s role in the new NQF 
landscape. 

I trust that SAQA will continue to promote the 
objectives of the NQF and collaborate with its 
partners to implement the NQF.

G M N Pandor, MP
Minister of Education

Foreword by the Minister of Education 

In the year under review, we have made great strides towards the implementation 
of the new National Qualifications Framework (NQF) landscape. The NQF Act 
and related legislation, (the Higher Education Amendment Act, the General and 
Further Education Amendment Act, and the Skills Development Act) were 
published and, after wide consultation,  finally promulgated on 19 February 2009.  

The new legislation is aimed at addressing the allocation of responsibilities, 
resolving tensions among important role-players, and simplifying the NQF 
apparatus in order to speed up the achievement of the NQF objectives. 

The NQF Act legislates an oversight and leadership role for SAQA as custodian 
of the values of the NQF. I am pleased that SAQA has, in the past financial year, 
already started to play that role in a proactive manner by engaging constructively 
with the new NQF legislation and participating in shaping the future of the NQF. It 
has been notable that SAQA has engaged with its key partners on issues of 
mutual interest, through its Transitional Task Teams and bilateral meetings with 
the various partners, and also various discussions with the Minister of Education,   
the Director General and other senior officials in the Department of Education. 

SAQA has continued its  valuable work on the international front.  

In the SADC region SAQA supported the SADC Secretariat in a study on the 
benchmarking of quality assurance across the region, and has  continued to work 
with other SADC member states towards the vision of a SADC regional 
qualifications framework.  

In the Commonwealth context, SAQA has successfully overseen an important 
study on the recognition of teacher qualifications and professional status.  

In the broader context of the increased global move towards qualifications 
frameworks, SAQA is recognised for playing an important leading role in 
supporting other countries and regions in their qualifications framework 
development.

I congratulate Prof. Shirley Walters, Chairperson of SAQA, for her excellent 
leadership, and the Authority and staff of SAQA for their positive approach and 
active engagement with SAQA's role in the new NQF landscape.  

I trust that SAQA will move courageously and swiftly into its newly defined role 
and to promote the objectives of the NQF and to work in collaboration with its 
partners to implement the NQF. 

GNM Pandor, MP 
Minister of Education 

Minister GMN Pandor

Foreword by the 
Minister of Education
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We have made steady progress in the past financial 
year, towards creating a new NQF landscape.  The 
Skills Development Amendment Act, (no 37 of 
2008) that was promulgated on 1 December 2008, 
provides for the Quality Council for Trades and 
Occupations (QCTO), which is designed to respond 
to the unique circumstances and philosophies 
related to the acquisition of skills and specialised 
knowledge required to achieve competence in 
trades, occupations and para-professions.   This 
body will coordinate, simplify and streamline the 
work of the SETA ETQAs, and will increase cost-
effectiveness and reduce bureaucracy.

SAQA has in the past financial year actively 
participated in the working groups preparing for 
the setting up of the QCTO and I wish to thank 
them for their contribution in this regard.

We have also made considerable progress over the 
past three years in identifying priority skills and 

constructing innovative partnerships to address 
these needs, with SAQA’s assistance in developing 
and registering of a number of qualifications in 
response to the national needs, on the NQF, in 
response to the JIPSA initiative.  

The important role that SAQA plays in the process of 
importing scarce and critical skills from elsewhere, 
through their evaluation of foreign qualifications 
service, which enabled informed employment of 
immigrants, also needs to be acknowledged.

We do however need to continue the good work, 
to get young unemployed people into employment, 
to support and sustain current economic growth 
trends, the broader ASGISA projects and to 
contribute to the future maintenance of the massive 
infrastructure that is being developed. We have to 
focus on getting our people out of the poverty 
circle, to improve the living standard of our people, 
and to  make South Africa a better country within 
which to live and to invest.

I therefore welcome the theme of this report, 
‘Embracing Change’ and look forward to a continued 
partnership with SAQA, towards skills development 
in our country, and a better life for all.

MMS Mdladlana, MP
Minister of LabourMinister MMS Mdladlana

Foreword by the 
Minister of Labour
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‘Embracing change’ is not only the theme of this 
Annual Report, but has been our focus in the past 
financial year, as we took proactive steps to provide 
leadership in determining SAQA’s future role as the 
oversight body in the new NQF landscape.  

This proactive role is focused on ensuring that 
the NQF is underpinned by systems coordination, 
coherence and resource alignment. This will 
be achieved through providing the necessary 
leadership for effective partnerships in the delivery 
of the NQF, quality research and information on 
education and skills to inform national decision 
making, capacity building of targeted learning 
communities and comprehensive communication 
with key stakeholders and the general public.

Before the beginning of the financial year, we agreed 
that we would aim to achieve the following:

•	 �responding to and creating a context for the 
NQF Act and related new legislation

•	 �managing the transition in such a way that 
learners are not disadvantaged by the changes.  
This includes proper arrangements regarding 
the hand-over of functions to new bodies

•	 �communication and advocacy of the NQF and 
the new NQF architecture and assuring that role 
players understand the changes to the system 

•	 �building SAQA’s research and development 
capacity and credibility to lead policy, legislative 
and conceptual debates� 

•	 �advancing Lifelong Learning, including 
Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) and Credit 
Accumulation and Transfer (CAT).

These targets were achieved in the following 
manner:

Impacting the legislation

SAQA has made substantial inputs into the new 
legislation to ensure that the changes to the NQF 
architecture will be beneficial to learners and the 
system as a whole.  It not only made formal written 
submissions on the various drafts but, in the spirit 
of constructive contribution to the new legislation 
and the new system, also made a presentation to 
the Education Portfolio Committee.

Managing the transition 

SAQA continuously engaged with the Department 
of Education (DoE), the Department of Labour (DoL) 
and its key partners, which are the Council for Higher 
Education (CHE) and Umalusi, to achieve shared 
meanings, purposes and strategies. Issues such 
as the moving of the responsibility for standards 
setting and quality assurance were discussed with a 
view to coherent planning and implementation.  

Communication and advocacy of the NQF 

SAQA has, together with its key partners, developed 
a comprehensive NQF Advocacy Strategy. This 
strategy will be implemented in the 2009/10 
financial year.

Building SAQA’s research and development 
capacity

Despite the significant setback that SAQA’s research 
work suffered due to the untimely passing of our 
Research Director, Prof. Ben Parker, in October 
2008, good progress was made in furthering the 
research partnerships established by Prof. Parker, 
and SAQA’s research agenda in general.

Samuel BA Isaacs

Executive Officer’s Report
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Advancing Lifelong Learning, including 
Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) and 
Credit Accumulation and Transfer (CAT)

A series of seminars on Researching Work and 
Learning, covering issues such as learning in work 
life, career guidance and counselling, and the impact 
of violence on learning, were held in partnership 
with the UWC, Durban University of Technology 
and the INSETA.  A research project on RPL has also 
commenced in partnership with the UWC.

SAQA’s key focus areas for the next financial year 
will be:

•	 �implementing the NQF Act, including the 
development of policy as set out in the Act 

•	 �managing the transition to the advantage 
of learners and providing navigational tools 
to guide learners through the system.   This 
includes proper arrangements regarding the 
hand-over of quality assurance and standard 
setting to the Quality Councils.

•	 �communicating and advocating the NQF and the 
new NQF architecture and assisting role players 
to understand the changes to the system

•	 �building SAQA’s research and development 
capacity and credibility to lead policy, legislative 
and conceptual debates

•	 �advancing Lifelong Learning including 
Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL), Credit 
Accumulation and Transfer (CAT) and Career 
Advice Services

•	 �developing and maintaining international NQF 
linkages.

SAQA remains committed to the ideals of the NQF, 
and to the implementation of the South African NQF 
as a framework for communication, coordination 
and collaboration across education, training and 
work.

Samuel BA Isaacs
Executive Officer



10

show how SAQA has continued with the execution 

Joe Samuels

Deputy Executive 
Officer’s Report
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partnerships with universities for joint research 

Through the above actions SAQA has shown its 
Preparation for the transition 

With regard to preparation for the transition to the 

representatives of both the higher education sector 

Standards Setting and Development
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higher education band prior to their registration on 

transition period  in order to expedite processes 

in the future and it is expected that the proposed 

Continued execution of SAQA’s current 
mandate

Registration of qualifications and unit 
standards on the NQF

and 641 new unit standards were registered during 

Commitment to partnerships
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DoE

ETDP SETA

APAC

HWSETA

LGSETA

CETA

SAPS

SAAF

DEAT

CoL

Enhancing international comparability 

Preparation for the transition

Christo Basson

Quality Assurance and Development
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Education and training quality audits

Extension of accreditation

Uptake of qualifications and unit standards

Quality promotion

Kha Ri Gude
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Origin of qualifications (Figure 2)

2008/2009

Organising fields (Figure 3)

Nadina Coetzee

and Advisory Services

Foreign Qualifications Evaluation 
and Advisory Services

5 000

10 000

15 000

20 000

25 000

30 000

05/06
8 420

06/07 
14 382

07/08 
29 849

08/09 
29 347

35 000
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NQF Levels 1(Figure 4)

in 2008/2009

E
Engineering and 

D
ep

u
ty

 E
x
ec

u
ti

ve
 O

ff
ic

er
’s

 R
ep

o
rt



17
D

ep
u

ty E
x
ecu

tive O
fficer’s R

ep
o
rt

Systems development

Strategic relationships

peers 

Tracking skills acquisition nationally

Providing information for decision making 

Yvonne Shapiro

National Learners’ Records Database 
(NLRD)
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Obtaining data

The change represented both an increase in the 

had begun participating in the project by March 

Informing SAQA’s clients about 
qualifications and unit standards

accreditations was incorporated into the searches 

had found it confusing to have to search for these 

and unit standards that had been registered or                     

Verification of learner achievements

own records and received a free transcript 
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Support to other organisations

Learnership

Maintenance and development

Summary of information held on NLRD as at 
31 March 2009

Assessors: 48 365

The registrations of the rest of the Assessors 
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152

reporting period: 140

4 273

reporting period: 641 

31

Provider accreditations

standards

partnerships with experts and organisations 

Research partnerships

Ben Parker (01/06/1958-27/10/2008)

Research
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three PhD studies are:

in response to arising tensions in activity 

introduced and supported through various 

of Prior Learning and the production of a country 
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Presentation of the research programme in 
various forums

of these occasions the research was presented 

Research Work and Learning Colloquium 
(Cape Town)

Participation in the SAQA Research Seminars 
on Workplace Learning (Prof. Knud Illeris) 

NQF Impact Study

Analysis of NLRD data on SGB generated 
qualifications
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NQF Colloquium

and the research page on the SAQA website was 

Graduate attributes

The 

respon

Events

Ntsiki Gumbe
Director: Strategic Support

Communication and 
Information Services
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Exhibitions 

African continent and overseas during the year 
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Publications

The 

th

Career Guidance: Opportunities and 

Media

NQF Advocacy Task Team

From left to right:

Back row:

Front row:

Absent:  
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NQF Support Link Project

The period under review has seen a concerted 

SAQA website

NQF Gateway

practitioners to be proactive in their approach to 

Gateway during the year under review was 3 580 

SAQA Community Gateway

Resource and Information Centre
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Quality education
– a right for all

that everyone has the right to basic education

process of redress
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Records management project

The Southern African Development 

Community 

Angola

Seychelles

Commonwealth

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and 
Development (OECD)

SAQA is participating in an OECD initiative to 
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Ethiopia

Commonwealth of Learning (COL)

The United Arab Emirates  (UAE)

Study visits 

resource transactions through the introduction of 

Performance and recognition 

Victor Booysen

Human Resource Management
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Preparing for the transition

for vacancies in its other directorates and has 

Learning and development
Investors In People Standard

Staff with ten years of service:

Back row:  

Front row:  
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SAQA ascribes its success in this regard to the 

Employee Self-service

Upgrading of systems

Herman Ohloff

Information Technology
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recent version to enhance internet security and to 

Application development

Governance processes
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S

Mark Albertyn

Finance and Administration, 
Budgeting and Funding
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Corporate Governance

While the management structure of SAQA 
is somewhat different from that of a private 
corporation, the Authority is committed to the 
principles of openness, integrity and accountability 
reflected in the King Code of Corporate Practices 
and Conduct.

SAQA therefore continuously works towards the 
enhancement of its governance processes. Progress 
in this regard is actively monitored by the SAQA 
Audit Committee through regular reports against 
SAQA’s governance processes’ reviews’ schedule.  

All SAQA’s policies are reviewed in a three-year 
cycle, ensuring that policies are relevant, effective 
and efficient.

SAQA has issued a booklet titled ‘Governance 
Matters’ to the members of the Authority and its 
Committees. This booklet contains important 
information, for example, Governance Guidelines, 
Rules of Procedure, Terms of Reference of 
Committees and Charter of Ethics and Values. The 
contents were discussed and adopted by the Fourth 
Authority by way of a formal decision during the 
year under report.

Composition of the Authority

The Minister of Education, in consultation with the 
Minister of Labour, appointed the Fourth Authority 
for the period 19 November 2007 until 18 November 
2010. The NQF Act stipulates that the Authority that 
is in place at the time of the coming into operation 
of the new legislation will remain in office until 
such time as the Minister makes an announcement 
regarding the appointment of a new board. This 
will ensure continuity and proper handover.

The Fourth Authority consists of 25 members. Of 
these, 22 were nominated by national stakeholders 
in education and training, two were appointed at 
the Ministers’ discretion and one was co-opted by 
SAQA with the approval of the Ministers.

Functions of the Authority

In terms of the SAQA Act (Act No. 58 of 1995), the 
functions of the Authority are to: 

Oversee the development and implementation of 
the NQF by:

•	 �registering or accrediting bodies responsible for 
establishing education and training standards 
or qualifications and assigning functions to 
them

•	 �registering national qualifications and unit 
standards

•	 �accrediting bodies responsible for monitoring 
and auditing achievements in terms of such 
qualifications and unit standards

•	 �taking steps to ensure that registered 
qualifications and unit standards are 
internationally comparable.

Formulate and publish policies and criteria for:

•	 �the registration of bodies responsible 
for establishing education and training 
qualifications and unit standards

•	 �the accreditation of bodies responsible for 
monitoring and auditing achievements in terms 
of such qualifications and unit standards

•	 �Approve budgets, major contracts and other 
commitments entered into

•	 Control the finances of the Authority.

Activities of the Authority

During the year under review the Authority met 
five times. With the exception of the Executive 
Officer, all members are non-executives and are 
independent.2

In addition to the members, meetings of the 
Authority are attended by the Deputy Executive 
Officer and all Directors.   The Deputy Executive 
Officer and relevant Directors also attend Committee 
meetings.

2  �With the exception of John Arnesen, who was employed by SAQA 

from 26 July 2004 to 31 December 2005.
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Authority Members

From left to right:
Front row:	 �Dr C de la Rey, Ms G Magnus, Ms P Mncube, Prof S Walters, Mr M Toni, Ms R Rajab, 
	 	 Ms N Coetzee, Ms N Gumbe
Middle Row: 	 �Mr V Booysen, Dr M Rakometsi, Mr M Albertyn, Mr EW de Klerk, Mr SBA Isaacs, Prof PJ 

Ankiewicz, Mr J Arnesen, Ms C Stoltz, Ms Y Shapiro
Back Row:	 ���Mr �JS Samuels, Dr H Ohlhoff, Mr I Baatjes, Mr D Mputhing, Mr EAB Williams, 
	 	 Prof RH du Pré, Mr D Schutte, Mr M Brown
Absent: 	�	 �Mr AVR Mabena, Ms MM Maboye, Ms RL Makhubu, Mr DL Nkosi, Prof NA Ogude, 
	 	 Dr AW Paterson, Dr M Qhobela, Ms E Thobejane
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	 	 �Attendance at Authority and Committee meetings other than that of the Executive and Audit Committees, 
which are reported on separately, was as follows: 

Name Initials Title APPEALS ETQA FINANCE I & IT Q & S
Remune-
rations

Re-
search

SAQA

1 Ankiewics P.J. Prof         3/11     3/5

2 Arnesen J.L. Mr     04/05       1/1 4/5

3 Baatjes I. Mr             1/3 2/5

4 Brown M.J. Mr     5/5      2/3 4/5

5 Cele C.M. Mr 0/1             0/1

6 De Klerk E.W. Mr 1/2 2/4     5/11 1/3   3/5

7 Du Pré R.H. Prof             2/3 4/5

8 Isaacs S.B.A. Mr 3/3   4/5 2/4   3/3 3/3 5/5

9 Lolwana P.P. Dr               1/4

10 Mabena A.V.R. Mr         5/11 2/3   3/5

11 Maboye M.M Ms         7/11     3/5

12 Magnus G.E. Ms 1/2 4/4         2/3 5/5

13 Makhubu R.L. Ms               2/5

14 Mncube B.P. Ms 1/3 2/4           4/5

15 Nkosi D.L. Mr 3/3 1/4       3/3   3/5

16 Ogude N.A. Prof               3/5

17 1 Paterson A.W. Dr       3/4     2/3 3/4

18 Qhobela M Dr               2/5

19 Rajab R. Ms   4/4           3/5

20 Ramgoolam A. Mr         1/2     1/2

21 2 Reddy G. Ms             1/1 1/1

22 3 Shutte D.S. Mr 1/1

23 Thobejane E.P. Ms               1/5

24 Toni M. Mr       2/4       4/5

25 Walters S. Prof           3/4 3/3 5/5

26 Williams E.A.B. Mr               4/5

1 Paterson resigned from SAQA 2009-02-18

2 Reddy resigned from SAQA 2008-05-29

3 Shutte was appointed 2008-12-05  
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Members also attended 3 meetings of the External Transitional Task Team, and Mr John Arnesen was the 
Chairperson of the Advocacy Task Team, while he was a member of the Authority. 

Attendance of co-opted members of Committees was as follows:

Name Initials Title ETQA Finance I & IT Q & S Research

1   Adler   D. Mr 4/4     7/11  

2 1   Adler   J.A. Prof         1/2

3   Bhengu   T.N. Mr 3/4        

4   Cooke   J.A. Prof       6/11 1/3

5   Clayton   P.G. Prof     1/4    

6   Hall   K. Mr 1/4 2/5 2/4    

7 2   Lottering   B. Mr   1/4      

8   Mockler   K.G. Mr 4/4   4/4 11/11  

9 3   Morrow   W.A. Prof     0/3   0/2

10   Müller   S. Ms       6/11  

11   Ori   S. Mr       9/11  

12   Pretorius   J.A. Dr     3/4    

13   Van Rooyen   M. Ms 2/4        

14   Vieira   A. Ms   2/5      

1 Prof. Adler resigned  2009-02-12
2 Mr Lottering resigned 2009-02-25
3 Prof. Morrow passed away 2009-02-11

The representivity of the Fourth Authority as at 31 March 2009 was as follows:

% %

White
Male 23.1

Female 7.7

Black
Male 34.6

Female 30.8

African
Male 19.2

Female 19.2

Coloured
Male 7.7

Female 3.8

Indian
Male 7.7

Female 7.7

One member choose not to declare race 3.8

100
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COMMITTEES

The Authority had the following committees:

Committee: Chaired by:
Executive Prof. Shirley Walters
Audit Mr Ken Mockler
SAQA Education and 
Training Quality 
Assurance

Mr Dan Nkosi

ETQA Appeals Mr Dan Nkosi
Finance Mr Malcolm Brown
Information and 
Information Technology

Dr Adri Paterson

SAQA Qualifications and 
Standards

Mr Eddie de Klerk

Remuneration Prof. Shirley Walters
Research Prof. Shirley Walters

Executive Committee

The summarised Terms of Reference of the Executive 
Committee are as follows:

•	 Approve changes to the staff complement.
•	 �Recommend policy decisions to the Authority.
•	 �Approve sole sourcing or restricted process for 

procurement in excess of R500 000.
•	 �Approve the registration of qualifications and 

unit standards.
•	 �Monitor the performance of the Chairperson 

of the Authority, its committees and 
management.

During the year under review the Executive 
Committee met five times. Attendance by members 
was as follows:

MEMBERS

1 Brown M .J Mr 4/5

2 De Klerk E W Mr 0/5

3 Isaacs  S.B.A  Mr  (EO) 5/5

4 Mabena A.V.R. Mr 3/5

4.1
Arnesen J.L. Mr      
(Alternate to Mr Mabena)

2/2

5 Maboye M.M. Ms 4/5

6 Nkosi  D.L. Mr 2/5

7 Paterson A.W.  Dr 1/5

  8 Qhobela  M. Dr 0/5

9 Thobejane E.P. Ms 1/5

10
Walters S. Prof.   
(Chairperson)

5/5

Audit Committee 

The summarised Terms of Reference of the Audit 
Committee are as follows:

•	 �Assist the Authority in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities

•	 Review the following:
	 1.	 Financial reporting process
	 2.	 System of internal control
	 3.	 System to manage risks
	 4.	 Governance processes
	 5.	 �Fraud prevention, detection and reporting 

policies and procedures
	 6.	 Internal and external audit processes
	 7.	 �Process for monitoring compliance with 

laws, regulations and the Code of Ethics
	 8.	 �Annual Report, which includes the Annual 

Financial Statements.

During the year under review the Audit Committee 
met four times.   The committee comprises non-
executive members, two being members of the 
Authority.  The executive officer and representatives 
of the external and internal auditors also attend 
meetings by invitation.  The external and internal 
auditors meet, separately, with the Committee 
regularly, without the presence of Management.  
Both auditors have unrestricted access to the 
Committee and its chairperson.   Attendance by 
members of the Audit Committee was as follows:
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A MEMBERS
Names Initials

1 Adler D. Mr 3/4
2 Baatjes I. Mr 1/4
3 Brown M.J. Mr 4/4
4 Mockler K.G. (Chairperson) Mr 4/4
5 Molalekoa N. Ms 4/4
6 Nepfumbada M.P. Mr 0/4
7 Vieira A. Ms 3/4
B OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL 2/4

C
EXTERNAL AUDITORS CONTRACTED BY 
THE AUDITOR-GENERAL

4/4

D
REPRESENTATIVES OF THE INTERNAL 
AUDITORS

4/4

Members of the Audit Committee had also attended 
two informal meetings. The first of these dealt with 
Performance Auditing and was attended by Mr D. 
Adler, Mr I. Baatjes, Mr M.J. Brown, Mr K.G. Mockler, 
Ms N. Molalekoa, Mr M.P. Nepfumbada and Ms A. 
Vieira, whilst the second dealt with the appointment 
of internal auditors and was attended by Mr.M.J 
Brown,  Mr K.G. Mockler, Ms N. Molalekoa.

The summarised Terms of Reference of the 
remaining Committees are as follows:

SAQA Education and Training Quality 
Assurance 

•	 �Review the ETQA landscape and recommend 
strategies to ensure that providers can be 
accredited.

•	 �Ensure that the policy and guidance documents 
produced are in accordance with SAQA policy.

•	 �Monitor applications for ETQA accreditation.
•	 �Review the quality assurance model that is 

implicit in the ETQA regulations and make 
recommendations on quality management 
systems.

•	 �Monitor and audit the performance of ETQAs.
•	 �Recommend the deregistration of an ETQA if it 

is not compliant with the ETQA regulations.

ETQA Appeals 

•	 �Rule whether the Appeals Committee has the 
jurisdiction to hear an appeal.

•	 �Monitor the management of the appeals 
process.

•	 �Rule on appeals and communicate these rulings 
to the parties involved.

Information and Information Technology

Left to right:
Back row:   Ms P Semenya, Ms Y Shapiro, Ms C Stoltz, Mr J Samuels, Dr H Ohlhoff.

Front row:   Mr K Mockler, Dr A  Paterson, Mr J Pretorius, Mr K Hall.
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Finance 

•	 �Recommend financial policies and procedures 
to the Authority.

•	 �Review financial performance against budgets.
•	 �Recommend the approval of proposed budgets 

to the Authority.
•	 �Approve virements over R250 000 and 

expenditures over R500 000.

Information and Information Technology 

•	 �Review all of SAQA’s Information and IT policies 
and procedures, especially in the area of 
data security and disaster recovery, for audit 
compliance, effectiveness and efficiency.

•	 �Develop and maintain a financial model for the 
long-term sustainability of the NQF databases.

•	 �Moderate any research conducted into the 
commercial options for the National Learners’ 
Records Database (NLRD) and other information 
of which SAQA is the custodian, and ensure that 
ongoing advocacy for the NLRD is undertaken.

•	 �Ensure that SAQA complies with the Promotion 
of Access to Information Act, the Protection of 
Privacy Act and the Electronic Communications 
and Transactions Act.

•	 �Review the I & IT management landscape, in 
order to advise SAQA about its IT architecture, 
future planning, purchases and tenders relating 
to information and IT, as well as about I & IT 
staffing and capacity issues.

•	 �Ensure the effective and efficient use and 
compatibility of the NQF’s information 
resources.

SAQA Qualifications and Standards 

•	 �Monitor all qualifications and standards to 
ensure the following:

	 -	 That they meet the objectives of the NQF
	 -	 �That strategic areas are covered and gaps 

are identified with particular reference to 
national strategies for human resources 
and skills development.

Remuneration 

•	 �Appoint the Deputy Executive Officer and 
Heads of Directorates and determine their 
remuneration.

•	 �Make recommendations to the Authority on the 
appointment and conditions of service of the 
Executive Officer.

SAQA Qualifications and Standards

Left to right:
Back row: 	 Ms M Kelly, Mr J Samuels, Mr S Ori, Mr K Mockler, Mr E Brown, Mr AB Heyns.
Front row: 	 Mr D Mphuthing, Mr E de Klerk, Mr V Mabena.
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Research 

•	 �Provide guidance for the research agenda 
within the organisation.

•	 �Interrogate and recommend the Research 
Agenda, including the research focus for a 
particular cycle  or financial year.

•	 �Clarify the purpose of research within the 
organisation and make recommendations to 
the Authority in this regard.

•	 �Monitor and evaluate research activities.
•	 �Review and recommend policy governing 

research activities.
•	 �Monitor studies of a strategic nature.
•	 �Review and make recommendations in regard 

to the appropriate allocation of the research 
budget.

•	 Engage with research reports.

Evaluation of the performance of committees

The Authority assesses the duties of all committees 
and evaluates their performance annually. The 
chairpersons of the Authority and the committees 
also annually evaluate each individual member’s 
performance.

Management Committees

Management operates through (i) an Executive 
Management Committee, as well as (ii) a 
Management Committee. 

(i) �The Executive Management Committee comprises 
the Executive Officer (on request or when he 
or she wishes to attend), the Deputy Executive 
Officer, the seven Heads of Directorate and the 
Deputy Director: Secretariat. 

(ii) �The Management Committee consists of members 
of the Executive Management Committee and 
the remaining Deputy Directors. 

The Management Committee formulates strategy and 
develops policy for consideration by the Authority 
and ensures that appropriate internal policies, 
procedures and financial controls are developed 
and maintained. The Executive Management 
Committee is responsible for implementation and 
the day-to-day operations of the organisation. It 
also ensures adherence to legislation, regulations 
and procedures.

Research

Left to right:
Back row: 	 �Dr J Keevy, Dr J Mukora, Ms C Stoltz, Ms N Gumbe, Ms Y Shapiro, 
	 	 Mr S Isaacs, Mr J Samuels.
Front row: 	 Ms G Magnus,  Prof R du Pré, Prof S Walters, Dr A Paterson.
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Internal audit

Owing to the nature and size of the staff complement, 
the Authority considers it inappropriate to establish 
an in-house internal audit function. However, 
the Audit Committee continuously monitors the 
need for the establishment of such a function and 
also reviews the present function. The internal 
audit function is currently outsourced to a firm of 
auditors.

Professional advice

Members of the Authority are entitled to seek 
professional advice about the affairs of the 
Authority at the Authority’s expense, provided 
that they follow the procedures laid down by the 
Authority.

Equity development and employee 
participation

The Authority is committed to an equity 
development policy, which is an integral component 
of its strategic plan.

Members of staff at all levels are encouraged to 
participate in education and training programmes 
in order to develop them to achieve their highest 
potential.

The Authority believes that the equity development 
policy and education and training initiatives 
will, together, enable individuals of ability and 
application to pursue rewarding careers at SAQA, 
regardless of race, gender, religious persuasion or 
extent of disablement.

The policies and procedures that are developed at 
SAQA undergo an extensive consultation process 
with staff as well as with the recognised organised 
labour organisations at SAQA, i.e. the South African 
Democratic Teachers’ Union (SADTU) and the SAQA 
Staff Association.

Code of Ethics and Values

The Authority has adopted a Code of Ethics and 
Values applicable to members of the Authority, 
persons serving on Authority structures and staff 
members. The members of the Authority believe 
that the ethical standards and the criteria included 
in its Code of Ethics and Values are being met.

Recruitment and Remuneration

The remuneration philosophy of SAQA is to employ 
persons who have an ethical attitude in accordance 
with SAQA’s Code of Ethics and Values and who 
have the skills required, or who can acquire them 
reasonably quickly. They receive market-related 
remuneration, pitched at the 50th percentile. 
Surveys and benchmarks are frequently consulted to 
align the organisation with the market, including the 
Public Service, in order to ensure competitiveness 
and skills retention. 

Sustainability

Management policies and practices are designed 
to ensure appropriate dealing with social, 
transformation, ethical, safety, health and 
environmental issues. The Authority ensures that 
these issues are given due weight in the standards 
and qualifications that it registers on the National 
Qualifications Framework. Through the Authority’s 
quality assurance activities, it ensures that providers 
of education and training are delivering according 
to those standards.

The Authority has adopted an HIV/Aids strategic 
plan and policies to address and manage the impact, 
actual and potential, of the disease on SAQA.

Formal procurement policies that take into account 
the need for black economic empowerment are 
applied.

Employment equity

The employment equity profile, as at 31 March 
2009, is shown in the table on the next page.

This table represents the composition of staff by 
race, gender and job level and indicates the extent 
to which the employment equity target had been 
achieved by SAQA by the end of March 2009. This 
target is based on paragraph 8.4.2 of the Code of 
Good Practice of the Employment Equity Act (No. 55 
of 1998), which suggests that the following factors 
should be considered when developing numerical 
goals:

�Under-representation of employees, i.e. current •	
staffing
�The pool of suitably qualified persons, i.e. in •	
SAQA’s case those who have secondary-level 
and higher education
�The expected turnover of employees. •	
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The goals take into account:

�The inclusion of factors as suggested in the •	
Employment Equity Act
�The equal weighting of each of these factors•	
�The flexibility and organisational interpretation •	
catered for in the Employment Equity Act.

 

PE
RS
O
N
S 
W
IT
H
 D
IS
AB
IL
IT
IE
S

AD
M
IN
 C
LE
RK

SE
CR
ET
AR
IE
S

AD
M
IN
 O
FF
IC
ER
S

PE
RS
O
N
AL
 A
SS
IS
TA
N
TS

AS
SI
ST
AN
T 
D
IR
EC
TO
RS

D
EP
UT
Y 
D
IR
EC
TO
RS

D
IR
EC
TO
RS

D
EP
UT
Y 
EX
EC
UT
IV
E 
O
FF
IC
ER

EX
EC
UT
IV
E 
O
FF
IC
ER

TO
TA

L

PE
RC
EN
TA
GE

VA
RI
AN
CE
 %

TA
RG
ET
 %

NUMBER OF STAFF 1 15 8 12 2 31 13 5 1 1 88  

AFRICAN MALE 0 6 0 4 0 6 5 0 1 0 22 22.2 6.0 28.2

AFRICAN FEMALE 0 7 7 4 1 11 3 0 0 0 33 33.3 -2.1 31.2

COLOURED MALE 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 3 3.0 0.8 3.8

COLOURED FEMALE 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1.0 3.1 4.1

INDIAN MALE 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1.0 1.8 2.8

INDIAN FEMALE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0 2.5 2.5

WHITE MALE 1 0 0 1 0 6 2 2 0 0 11 11.1 2.4 13.5

WHITE FEMALE 0 2 0 3 1 7 2 2 0 0 17 17.2 -3.2 14.0

VACANCIES 1 13 2 0 0 9 6 3 0 0 33  

STAFF COMPLEMENT 2 28 10 12 2 40 19 8 1 1 121      
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Responsibility Statement

Introduction

The Authority sets strategy and policy. Management 
formulates strategy and makes policy proposals for 
consideration by the Authority. Management also 
implements the decisions made by the Authority 
and maintains systems of internal control, as well as 
accounting and information systems. The Authority 
monitors the performance of management.

Financial statements

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that the 
Annual Report, which includes the Annual Financial 
Statements, fairly presents the state of affairs of SAQA, 
its business, its financial results, its performance 
against its predetermined objectives and its financial 
position as at the end of the financial year, in the 
manner required by the Public Finance Management 
Act 1999 (No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA).

In so doing, the Authority ensures that the financial 
statements are prepared on the basis of appropriate 
accounting policies (Refer Note 1.1 to the Annual 
Financial Statements) consistently applied and 
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and 
estimates.

The Financial Statements set out on pages 51 to 77 
meet the above criteria and were approved by the 
Authority on 24 June 2009 and signed on its behalf by 
the Chairperson and the Executive Officer.

Corporate Governance

The Authority is committed to the principles of 
openness, integrity and accountability reflected in the 
King Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct.

Accounting records and internal control

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that adequate 
accounting records, information systems and an 
effective system of internal control are maintained and 
implemented by management. The internal financial 
controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded, that 
the risks of error, fraud and loss are reduced in a cost-
effective manner, and that transactions are executed 
and recorded in accordance with the Authority’s policies 
and procedures. These controls are implemented 
by trained, skilled staff with clearly defined lines of 
accountability and appropriate segregation of duties. 
The controls include a comprehensive budgeting and 
reporting system, operating within strict deadlines and 
an appropriate control framework.

Risk management

The Authority is responsible for the process of risk 
management and for establishing risk and control 
policies and communicating them throughout the 
organisation.

The Authority, through the Audit Committee, using 
the internal auditors, ensures that there is an ongoing 
process for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks facing the organisation.

An effective system is in place to ensure that risks 
are managed in a way that provides reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance that they are mitigated to the 
extent considered acceptable.

This process was in place for the year under review and 
up to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and 
financial statements.

Disaster management

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that there 
is a documented and tested process in place that will 
allow the organisation to continue its critical business 
processes in the event of a disaster impacting on its 
activities.

Internal audit

The Authority is responsible for ensuring that an 
internal audit function is in operation. This unimpeded 
function operates independently from operational 
management and has unrestricted access to the 
Audit Committee. It appraises, evaluates and, when 
necessary, recommends improvements to the system 
of internal control and accounting practices. Its work 
includes conducting operational, financial and specific 
audits and liaising with the external auditors. 

Signed	 Signed
Prof. S Walters	 SBA Isaacs
SAQA Chairperson 	 Executive Officer
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Report of the Audit Committee

Introduction

The Audit Committee is made up of non-executive 
members, two of whom are members of the Authority. 
The Executive Officer and representatives of the 
external and internal auditors attend Audit Committee 
meetings by invitation. Regular meetings that do not 
include Management are held between the external 
and internal auditors and the Audit Committee. The 
representatives of both the internal and external 
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee and its Chairperson.

Audit Committee’s responsibilities

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with 
its responsibilities arising from section 38 (1)(a) of 
the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.13. The Audit 
Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate 
formal terms of reference in accordance with the Audit 
Committee Charter, regulated its affairs in compliance 
with this charter and discharged all its responsibilities 
as contained therein.

The main responsibilities of the Committee are set 
out on page 40. In addition, the Audit Committee 
advises the Authority regarding risk, it assesses the 
risk management strategy prepared by management 
and monitors compliance with the risk management 
strategy through periodic risk reports by Management. 
The minutes of the Committee meetings are made 
available to all members of the Authority.

The effectiveness of internal control

The system of internal control is adequate and has 
been effective during the year. The various reports of 
the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual 
Financial Statements and the management letter of 
the Auditor-General have not reported any significant 
or material non-compliance with prescribed policies 
and procedures. The risk assessment for the Authority 
was revised during the year under review and SAQA’s 
governance processes were reviewed.

Management quarterly reports

The Committee is satisfied with the content and quality 
of the quarterly reports prepared and issued by the 
Accounting Officer on behalf of the Authority during 
the year under review, as required by the PFMA.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee:
•	 �Reviewed and discussed with the Auditor-General 

and the Accounting Officer the audited Annual 
Financial Statements to be included in the Annual 
Report

•	 �Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management 
letter and management’s response

•	 �Reviewed changes in accounting policies and 
practices

•	 �Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from 
the audit

•	 �Evaluated the Annual Financial Statements and 
recommended that they be adopted.

KG Mockler
Chairperson: Audit Committee
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Report of the Auditor-General

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT 
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN QUALIFICATIONS 
AUTHORITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

Introduction

I have audited the accompanying financial statements 
of the South African Qualifications Authority which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at  
31 March 2009 and the statement of financial 
performance, the statement of changes in net assets 
and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 51 to 77.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for 
the financial statements

The accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with the basis of accounting 
determined by National Treasury, as set out in 
accounting policy note 1.1 and in the manner required 
by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 
1 of 1999) (PFMA) and for such internal control as the 
accounting authority determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

The Auditor-General’s responsibility

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the 
Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the 
Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and 
section 13 of the South African Qualifications Authority 
Act, 1995 (Act No. 58 of 1995) my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with the International 
Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 616 of 
2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 
May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 

depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion 

In my opinion the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the 
South African Qualifications Authority as at 31 March 
2009 and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended, in accordance with basis of 
accounting determined by National Treasury, as set 
out in accounting policy note 1.1 and in the manner 
required by the PFMA.

Other key governance requirements

The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a 
number of responsibilities concerning financial and 
risk management and internal control. Fundamental to 
achieving this is the implementation of key governance 
responsibilities, which I have assessed as follows:

No. Matter Y N

Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily 
available and provided in a timely manner

1. No significant difficulties were 
experienced during the audit 
concerning delays or the availability 
of requested information.



Quality of financial statements and related management 
information

2. The financial statements were not 
subject to any material amendments 
resulting from the audit.


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No. Matter Y N

3. The annual report was submitted for 
consideration prior to the tabling of 
the auditor’s report.



Timeliness of financial statements and management 
information

4. The annual financial statements 
were submitted for auditing as per 
the legislated deadlines, section 55 
of the PFMA.



Availability of key officials during audit 

5. Key officials were available 
throughout the audit process. 

Development and compliance with risk management, 
effective internal control and governance practices

6. Audit committee

•	 �The public entity had an 
audit committee in operation 
throughout the financial year.



•	 �The audit committee operates 
in accordance with approved, 
written terms of reference.



•	 �The audit committee 
substantially fulfilled its 
responsibilities for the year, 
as set out in section 77 of the 
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 
27.1.8.



7. Internal audit

•	 �The public entity had an internal 
audit function in operation 
throughout the financial year.



•	 �The internal audit function 
operates in terms of an 
approved internal audit plan.



•	 �The internal audit function 
substantially fulfilled its 
responsibilities for the year, as 
set out in Treasury Regulation 
27.2.



8. There are no significant deficiencies 
in the design and implementation 
of internal control in respect of 
financial and risk management.



No. Matter Y N

9. There are no significant deficiencies 
in the design and implementation 
of internal control in respect of 
compliance with applicable laws 
and regulations. 



10. The information systems were 
appropriate to facilitate the 
preparation of the financial 
statements.



11. A risk assessment was conducted 
on a regular basis and a risk 
management strategy, which 
includes a fraud prevention plan, is 
documented and used as set out in 
Treasury Regulation 27.2.



12. Powers and duties have been 
assigned, as set out in section 56 
of the PFMA.



Follow-up of audit findings

13. The prior year audit findings have 
been substantially addressed. 

14. SCOPA resolutions have been 
substantially implemented. N/A

Issues relating to the reporting of performance 
information

15. The information systems were 
appropriate to facilitate the 
preparation of a performance report 
that is accurate and complete.



16. Adequate control processes and 
procedures are designed and 
implemented to ensure the accuracy 
and completeness of reported 
performance information.



17. A strategic plan was prepared 
and approved for the financial 
year under review for purposes 
of monitoring the performance in 
relation to the budget and delivery 
by the South African Qualification 
Authority against its mandate, 
predetermined objectives, outputs, 
indicators and targets [Treasury 
Regulation 30.1]



18. There is a functioning performance 
management system and 
performance bonuses are only 
paid after proper assessment and 
approval by those charged with 
governance.


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Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

Report on performance information

I have reviewed the performance information as set out 
on pages 80 to 114.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the 
performance information

The accounting authority has additional responsibilities 
as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure 
that the annual report and audited financial statements 
fairly present the performance against predetermined 
objectives of the public entity.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility

I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 
13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, 
issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 
2008. 

In terms of the foregoing my engagement included 
performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain 
sufficient appropriate evidence about the performance 
information and related systems, processes and 
procedures. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to report that no significant findings 
have been identified as a result of my review.

Appreciation

The assistance rendered by the staff of the South African 
Qualifications Authority during the audit is sincerely 
appreciated.

Pretoria

26 June 2009

SA Qualifications Authority

SAQA is a statutory body established by an Act of 
Parliament. The Act which established it is The South 
African Qualifications Act No 58 of 1995. In terms of 
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) SAQA is a  
schedule 3A National Public Entity and is listed under 
that Schedule to the Act. SAQA is the accounting 
authority for the activities of the entity. The NQF Act 
No 67 of 2008 was gazetted on 19 February 2009 
and will repeal the SAQA Act on the implementation 
date of 01 June 2009. SAQA continues to operate as 
the Statutory Body overseeing the implementation and 
further development of the NQF.

Accounting Authority Report

Nature of Entity

The Authority is a public enterprise domiciled in South 
Africa.

Nature of Entity’s Operations

The nature of the entity’s operations is set out in 
The South African Qualifications Authority Act No. 
58 of 1995, and is to oversee the development 
and implementation of the National Qualifications 
Framework.

Principal Activities

•	 �Provide leadership and professional expertise to 
ensure that high quality, nationally relevant and 
internationally comparable unit standards and 
qualifications are registered on the NQF.

•	 �Provide leadership through systematic monitoring 
and evaluation for continuous quality improvement 
of education and training.

•	 �Maintain the National Learners’ Records Database 
(NLRD) as the key national source of information for 
human resource development in South Africa.

•	 �Maintain and develop SAQA’s Directorate Foreign 
Qualifications Evaluation and Advisory Services 
(DFQEAS) (Formerly known as CEEQ) as the national 
recognition information centre for foreign and 
domestic learning and qualifications.

•	 Research of education and training systems
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Projects

Project support continued to play a role in the realisation of SAQA’s achievements. The members are grateful for the 
contributions to the Authority by the project partners for the year:

Deferred Income - Revenue Items

1 April 2008 Refundable to Current Year Current Year 31 March 2009
Opening 
Balance

donor / 
adjustments

Income
Expenditure / 
Release

Balance

R R R R R

Projects

Council for Higher Education 304,357 0 764,000 (547,727) 520,630
Services SETA 1,237,500 0 760,000 (533,579) 1,463,921
H&W SETA 143,225 0 300,000 (443,225) 0
SASSETA 70,000 0 42,000 (112,000) 0
ISETT SETA 221,659 0 0 (216,957) 4,702
ETDP SETA 163,248 0 312,500 (475,748) 0
TETA SETA 1,388,787 0 0 (1,098,478) 290,308
LG SETA 139,749 0 250,000 (154,956) 234,793
INSETA 89,818 0 100,000 (39,065) 150,753
WR SETA 272,463 (18,361) 0 (254,102) 0

CHIETA 150,000 0 0 (120,655) 29,345
Construction SETA 0 0 2,236,500 (1,465,140) 771,360
Forest Industries Education and 
Training Authority 406,000 0 507,500 (376,901) 536,599
Department of Environmental 
Affairs & Tourism 0 0 50,000 (50,000) 0
Department of Sports & 
Recreation 186,605 0 370,000 (388,318) 168,288
Department of Public Service & 
Administration 100,000 0 0 (100,000) 0
Department of Social 
Development 0 0 479,250 (56,167) 423,083
Department of Home Affairs 0 0 140,000 (14,166) 125,834
Department of Education 0 0 200,000 0 200,000
Public Association of Accounts 
Professionals 0 0 100,000 (90,240) 9,760
City & Guilds 400,000 0 0 (9,999) 390,001

5,273,411 (18,361) 6,611,750 (6,547,422) 5,319,377
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Deferred Income - Capital Items

1 April 2008
Current Year 
Acquisitions

Current Year 
Release

31 March 2009

R R R R
Canadian International Development Agency  5,600,457 0 (1,866,819)  3,733,638 
Department of Education  7,986,954  1,083,460 (2,561,012)  6,509,403 
European Union  3,736,971 0 (386,967)  3,350,004 
Joint Education Trust - (DANIDA)  1,561 0 (1,561) 0

 17,325,943  1,083,460 (4,816,358)  13,593,045 

Going Concern

The Authority believes that SAQA will continue to be a going concern for the financial year ahead. Accordingly, 
it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. In arriving at this view, the 
Authority took into account the current sound financial position and the ongoing commitment of the Minister of 
Education to fund the Authority’s activities.

Events After The Reporting Period

No adjusting events or non-adjusting events requiring disclosure occurred after the reporting period.

Property, Plant and Equipment

There were no changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment or in the policy regarding their use during the 
year. The estimated useful life of the NLRD Software was changed from 2 years to 4 years during 2007. The remaining 
useful life of the NLRD software as at 31 March 2009 is 2 years. During the 2008 financial year, SAQA commenced 
with the construction of a new parking garage. The costs incurred to 31 March 2008 on the construction thereof 
were capitalised to fixed assets. No depreciation was provided during the financial year ending 31 March 2008, 
as the parking garage had not yet been completed and brought into use. Further costs of R350 332 were incurred 
during April and May 2008. The parking garage was completed and brought into use on 1 June 2008. Depreciation 
has been provided on the parking garage as from 1 June 2008 over the estimated useful life of the parking garage 
of 20 years.

Capital Expenditure on Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets for the year amounted to R2,867,144 
(2008: R7,035,916).  Details are contained in Note 4 and 5 to the Financial Statements

Remuneration

The remuneration of the Chairperson is determined by the Minister of Education, with the concurrence of the Minister 
of Finance. A portion of the remuneration of Professor Shirley Walters is paid to her employer, the University of the 
Western Cape. Allowances paid to other non-executive members of the Authority are determined by the Authority.

Remuneration and allowances paid to members of the Authority for the year under review were as follows:
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Attendance 
Fees 

Other Services
Paid to 
employer

 Paid to 
Member

Travel Costs
Paid to 
Member

TOTAL

Executive
Mr S Isaacs (See note 3 of AFS for Split)  934,618  934,618 

Non-Executive
Prof S Walters - Chairperson  -  31,923  159,635  9,609  201,168 

Authority Members
Prof PJ Ankiewics  -  -  -  2,571  2,571 
Mr J Arnesen  -  -  -  7,099  7,099 
Mr M Brown  41,730  -  -  7,265  48,995 
Mr E de Klerk  -  -  -  6,117  6,117 
Mr V Mabena  -  -  -  5,194  5,194 
Mr DL Nkosi  -  -  -  1,893  1,893 
Ms R Rajab  15,750  -  -  3,167  18,917 
Ms G Reddy  1,500  -  -  1,455  2,955 
Mr M Toni  5,553  -  -  512  6,065 

 64,533  31,923  1,094,253  44,882  1,235,591 

In addition, Note 16.2 to the Financial Statements discloses emoluments paid to senior management of the Authority during 
the period 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2009

Financial Statements

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting standards as set out in note 1.1 to the financial 
statements on page 59 thereof.

Auditors

The Auditor-General will continue in office as External Auditor in accordance with section 13 of the South African 
Qualifications Authority Act.

The Auditor-General expresses an opinion on the financial statements. The audit has been performed in terms of section 
188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 1996, read with sections 4 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act 
No 25 of 2004) and section 13 of the South African Qualifications Authority Act 1995 (Act no 58 of 1995). The audit is 
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.

Fair Presentation

The Financial Statements fairly present the state of affairs of SAQA at 31 March 2009, the results of its operations, and cash 
flow information for the year then ended. These were signed by the Chairperson and the Executive Officer on behalf of the 
Authority on 25 June 2009.
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2009 2008
 Notes  R  R 

Revenue  2  66,889,514  59,986,116 

Less: Operating expenses  3  68,470,008  64,457,942 
   

(1,580,494) (4,471,826)

Financial Income - Interest  3,526,463  3,110,873 

Surplus / (Defecit) for the year 1,945,970 (1,360,952)
   

South African Qualifications Authority
Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 31 March 2009



Fi
n

a
n

ci
a

ls
56

South African Qualifications Authority
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2009

 Notes 2009 2008
ASSETS  R  R 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  21,012,823  23,551,662 

   
Property, plant and equipment  4  18,253,075  21,525,466 
Intangible assets  5  2,664,762  1,954,671 
Operating lease receivable  94,987  71,524 

   

CURRENT ASSETS  30,912,414  31,257,110 

   
Inventories  6  112,106  112,974 
Trade and other receivables  7  1,349,350  1,011,260 
Prepaid expenses  316,246  284,043 
Cash and cash equivalents  8  29,134,712  29,848,833 

   
   

TOTAL ASSETS  51,925,237  54,808,772 
   

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS  23,886,665  21,940,695 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred Income - Long-term assets  9  10,330,049  13,661,402 

CURRENT LIABILITIES  17,708,523  19,206,674 

   
Trade and other payables  10  7,853,190  8,299,606 
Deferred income  9  9,855,332  10,907,068 

   
   

TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  51,925,237  54,808,772 
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 Notes 
 Accumulated 
Surplus 
 R 

Balance at 31 March 2007  23,301,648 

Surplus for the year (1,360,952)
 

Balance at 31 March 2008  21,940,695 

Surplus for the year 1,945,970
 

Balance at 31 March 2009  23,886,665 
 

           

South African Qualifications Authority
Statement of changes in Net Assets for the year ended 31 March 2009
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South African Qualifications Authority
Cash Flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2009

 Notes 2009 2008
 R  R 

Cash flow from operating activities  11 2,127,357 5,784,490

Cash generated from operations   (1,399,107)     2,673,617  
           

Government grant received   37,566,000     35,691,000  
Project funding received   5,625,000     6,357,735  
Cash receipts from customers      17,641,082     18,167,898  
Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (62,231,189)     (57,543,016)  

           
       

Interest received   3,526,463     3,110,873  

Cash outflow from investing activities (2,841,478) (7,020,700)

   
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

25,666 15,216

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  4 (1,699,253) (5,769,515)
Acquisition of intangible assets  5 (1,167,891) (1,266,400)

   
   

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (714,121) (1,236,210)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April  29,848,833 31,085,043

   

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March  8  29,134,712  29,848,833 
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1.	 Accounting Policies

1.1	 Basis of preparation

	 �The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the 
Accounting Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP Statement as follows:

Standard of GRAP  Replaced Statement of GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements                                                     
GRAP 2: Cash flow statements                                                                         
GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in accounting 
estimates and errors     

AC101: Presentation of financial statements 
AC118: Cash flow statements 
AC103: Accounting policies, changes in accounting 
estimates and errors

Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or 
result in material differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation 
of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted in the following changes in the presentation of the financial statements:  

                                                                                                                                                            
1.1.1. 	 Terminology differences: 
	 Standard of GRAP                                
	 Statement of financial performance         
	 Statement of financial position              
	 Statement of changes in net assets        
	 Net assets                                           
	 Surplus/deficit                  
	 Accumulated surplus/deficit                   
	 Contributions from owners                     
	 Distributions to owners                        

 
Replaced Statement of GAAP 
Income statement 
Balance sheet 
Statement of changes in equity 
Equity 
Profit/loss  
Retained earnings 
Share capital 
Dividends

	 1.1.2.	 The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

	 1.1.3. 	 �Specific information has been presented separately on the statement of financial position such as:
	 	 (a) receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers;
	 	 (b) taxes and transfers payable;
	 	 (c) trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions.

	 1.1.4. 	 Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

	 	 �Paragraphs 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 have not been implemented due to the fact that the local and 
international budget reporting standard is not effective for this financial year. Although the inclusion 
of budget information would enhance the usefulness of the financial statements,  non-disclosure 
will not affect the objective of the financial statements.

�	 �The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

	
	 �The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments at 

fair value as disclosed in the notes below. The financial statements are presented in South African Rands.

South African Qualifications Authority
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2009
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1.2	 Property, plant and equipment 

	 �Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

	 Costs include expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

	 �SAQA recognises in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such 
an item when the cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefit embodied within the item 
will flow to SAQA  and the cost can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the statement of 
financial performance when incurred.

	 �The Authority regularly maintains the property, plant and equipment in such a way that it does not incur any 
further costs for restoration expenses.

	 �Depreciation is charged to the statement of financial performance on a straight- line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not depreciated. The estimated 
useful lives are as follows:

	 Buildings	 	 20 years
	 Central Airconditioning System	 10 years
	 Parking garage	 20 years
	 Computer equipment	   3 years
	 Motor vehicles	   5 years
	 National Learners’ Records Database software and hardware	   7 years
	 Office furniture & equipment	   5 years

	 Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values are assessed annually.

1.3	 Intangible Assets

	 �An intangible asset is recognised at cost if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Authority. 
Amortisation is charged on a systematic basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets.

	 The estimated useful life of intangible assets in respect of Software developed is 5 years.

	 �Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only if it increases the future benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. The carrying amounts are reviewed at financial position date 
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. The estimated useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed annually.

1.4	 Inventories

	 �Inventories which consist of stationery, are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost 
of inventories comprises all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
existing location and condition, and is determined using the first-in, first-out method.   Obsolete, redundant 
and slow moving inventory is identified on a regular basis and written down to its estimated net realisable 
value. 

1.5	 Trade and other receivables

	 �Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less 
impairment losses.
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1.6	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 �Cash and cash equivalents consist of the balance on the current and call investment accounts and the cash on 
hand. 

1.7	 Provisions

	 �Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial position when SAQA has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a pre-tax rate which reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected 
benefits to be derived from the contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligation under 
the contract.

	 �A provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and 
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, SAQA recognises any 
impairment loss on the asset associated with the contract.

1.8	 Trade and other payables

	 �Trade and other payables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

1.9	 Employee benefits
	
	 Short term employee benefits
	 �The cost of all short term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders 

the related service.

	 �The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries and annual leave represent the amount that 
SAQA has a present obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the statement of financial 
position date.  The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts on current wage and salary 
rates.

	 Defined contribution plans
	 Contributions are charged against income as incurred.

1.10	 Revenue 

	 NLRD Services
	 �Verification fees of learner achievements is recognised when they become receivable.
	 �Commissioned data analyses fee income is recognised upon the completion of the analysis.
	 �Support for the Information Administrator Learnerships are recognised in the period during which the 

learnerships are undertaken.
	 Sales of books and CD’s with Published information is recognised on date of sale.

	 Evaluation fees
	 �Evaluation fees are recognised when the evaluation reports are delivered.
	
	� Government, donor and project grants
	 �Any Government and International donor grant is recognised in the statement of financial position initially as 

deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that the conditions attached to it will be complied with 
and that the grant will be received.   
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	 Subsequest to initial recognition:

	 �Grants for the purpose of giving immediate financial support with no future related costs are recognised in the 
statement of financial performance in the period in which they become receivable.  

	 �Grants that compensate for the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the statement 
of financial performance on a systematic basis over the useful life of the item.

	 �Grants that compensate the entity for expenses or losses incurred are recognised as revenue in the statement 
of financial performance on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses or losses are 
incurred. 

	 Rental income
	 �Rental income is recognised in the statement of financial performance on a straight-line basis over the period 

of the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

1.11	 Finance income

	 �Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective 
rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the entity.

1.12	 Expenses

	 �Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of financial performance on a straight- 
line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of financial 
performance as an integral part of the total lease expense

1.13	 Financial instruments

	 Measurement
	� Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on SAQA’s statement of financial position when SAQA 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value. In the case of financial assets or liabilities not classified as at fair value through the 
statement of financial performance, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of the financial instrument are added to the fair value.  Financial assets are derecognised if the authority’s 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if SAQA transfers the financial assets to 
another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Financial liabilities 
are derecognised if the authority’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

	 Trade and other receivables
	 �Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less 

impairment losses.

	 Cash and cash equivalents
	 �Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value, based on the relevant exchange rates at reporting 

date.

	 �Financial liabilities
	 �Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal 

payments using the effective interest rate method less any impairment losses and amortisations.

	 Gains and losses on subsequent measurement
	 �Gains and losses arising from a change in fair value of financial instruments that are not part of a hedging 

relationship are included in net surplus or deficit in the period in which the change arises.
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	 Offset
	 �Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 

position when SAQA has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

	 Foreign Currency Transactions and balances
	 �Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the transaction 

date. Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
financial position date. Gains or losses arising on translation are credited to or charged against the statement 
of financial performance.

1.14	 Impairment of assets

	 �The carrying amounts of SAQA’s assets, are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its 
recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

	 �In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset.   

	 �For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflow,  the recoverable amount is determined 
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised in the statement 
of financial performance whenever the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely 
are independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating 
units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis.

	 �A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

1.15	 Related Parties

	 �The Authority operates in an economic environment currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly 
owned by the South African Government. As a result of the constitutional independence of all three spheres 
of government in South Africa, only parties within the national sphere of Government will be considered to be 
related parties.
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2009 2008
 R  R 

2. Revenue

Grants  45,081,967  40,613,959 

  - Department of Education - grant revenue  36,482,540  34,014,175 
  - Department of Education - grants amortised  2,561,012  2,629,628 
  - Extra budgetary institutions  - project revenue  6,038,415  3,970,156 

Donors  2,255,347  2,292,507 

  - International institutions - grants amortised  2,255,347  2,292,507 
Evaluation fees  15,662,960  14,196,377 
NLRD services  754,099  621,748 
Q-Africa conference  2,200  399,704 
Rent  1,487,085  1,358,728 
NQF supportlink royalty income  163,126  15,479 
Profit on disposal of fixed assets  25,666  3,569 
Sundry  1,457,064  484,044 

   

 66,889,514  59,986,116 
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2009 2008
 R  R 

3. Operating expenses

Audit fee  1,080,719  857,842 

External Audit  800,245  655,390 
Internal Audit  280,474  202,452 

Authority Members’ remuneration
Executive Officer  934,618  861,741 

 - remuneration  851,624  784,183 
 - contribution to retirement plan  82,994  77,558 

Non-Executives  300,973  282,947 
   Chairperson    

 - remuneration to chairperson  159,635  120,274 
 - remuneration to employer  31,923  60,127 
 - paid for travel on SAQA business  9,609  1,299 

   Members  - attendance at meetings  64,533  69,624 
 - travel re-imbursement  35,273  31,623 

Personnel Expenses (excluding Executive Officer listed above)  29,036,999  26,202,195 

    Wages and salaries  25,708,046  23,090,839 
    Compulsory statutory payments and social contributions  499,011  460,013 
    Contributions to retirement plan  2,829,942  2,651,343 

Depreciation  4,971,645  4,803,991 

Building  473,194  460,040 
Parking Garage  168,630  - 
Central airconditioning system  208,186  208,186 
Computer equipment  1,991,376  2,006,529 
NLRD software  1,866,819  1,866,819 
Office furniture and equipment  263,440  262,417 

Amortisation of intangible assets  457,800  206,162 

Loss / (Profit) on exchange rate differences  6,401 (20,642)

Professional and Consulting Fees  14,425,321  11,058,097 

Transport, Subsistence and Accommodation - Non Staff  3,782,499  5,533,856 

Printing Costs  2,439,423  3,266,346 

Other operating 
expenses

 11,033,610  11,405,407 

   

 68,470,008  64,457,942 
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4. Property, plant & equipment 

 2009  2008 
 

Accumulated  Carrying 
 

Accumulated  Carrying 
 Cost  depreciation  value  Cost  depreciation  value 
 R  R  R  R  R  R 

Land 515,455 0 515,455 515,455 0 515,455
Buildings 9,483,400 2,808,137 6,675,263 9,313,876 2,334,942 6,978,934
Parking garage 4,047,110 168,630 3,878,480 3,696,778 0 3,696,778
Central airconditioning 
system 1,684,349 851,606 832,743 1,684,349 643,420 1,040,929

Sub Total: Land & 
Buildings 15,730,314 3,828,372 11,901,942 15,210,459 2,978,362 12,232,096
Computer equipment 9,402,986 7,319,064 2,083,921 8,600,013 5,534,540 3,065,473
Motor vehicles 105,409 105,409 0 105,409 105,409 0
NLRD software 26,135,462 22,401,824 3,733,637 26,135,462 20,535,005 5,600,456
Office furniture   
    and equipment 2,808,263 2,274,689 533,574 2,638,689 2,011,249 627,440

           

54,182,433 35,929,358 18,253,075 52,690,031 31,164,565 21,525,466
           

The estimated useful life of the NLRD Software was changed from 2 years to 4 years during 2007. The remaining 
useful life of the NLRD software as at 31 March 2009 is 2 years.

Durring the 2008 financial year, SAQA commenced with the construction of a new parking garage. The costs incurred 
to 31 March 2008 on the construction thereof were capitalised to property, plant and equipment. No depreciation 
was provided during the financial year ending 31 March 2008, as the parking garage had not yet been completed 
and brought into use. Further costs of R350 332 were incurred during April and May 2008. The parking garage was 
completed and brought into use on 1 June 2008. Depreciation has been provided on the parking garage as from  
1 June 2008 over the estimated useful life of the parking garage of 20 years.
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Reconciliation of the movement of the carrying value of Property, plant & equipment

Current year

Carrying value
1 April 2008 Additions Disposals Depreciation

Carrying value
31 March 

2009
R R R R R

Land 515,455 0 0 0 515,455
Buildings 6,978,934 169,523 0 473,194 6,675,263
Parking Garage 3,696,778 350,332 0 168,630 3,878,480
Central airconditioning system 1,040,929 0 0 208,186 832,743

Sub Total: Land & Buildings 12,232,096 519,855 0 850,010 11,901,942
Computer equipment 3,065,473 1,009,824 0 1,991,376 2,083,921
Motor vehicles 0 0 0 0 0
NLRD software 5,600,456 0 0 1,866,819 3,733,637
Office furniture and equipment 627,440 169,574 0 263,440 533,574

         

21,525,466 1,699,253 0 4,971,645 18,253,075
         

Previous year

Carrying value
1 April 2007 Depreciation

Carrying value
31 March 

2008Additions Disposals
R R R R R

Land 515,455 0 0 0 515,455
Buildings 7,246,373 192,602 0 460,040 6,978,934
Parking Garage 0 3,696,778 0 0 3,696,778
Central Airconditioning System 1,249,115 0 0 208,186 1,040,929

Sub Total: Land & Buildings 9,010,943 3,889,380 0 668,226 12,232,097
Computer equipment 3,391,525 1,684,053 3,576 2,006,529 3,065,473
Motor vehicles 0 0 0 0 0
NLRD software 7,467,275 0 0 1,866,819 5,600,456
Office furniture and equipment 701,846 196,083 8,071 262,417 627,440

         

20,571,589 5,769,515 11,647 4,803,991 21,525,466
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SAQA acquired the land and buildings at 1067 Arcadia Street, Hatfield, Pretoria, Erf 637 Hatfield, on 1 October 2002 for 
R5,400,000. Improvements to land and buildings to date amount to R10 330 314 (2008: R9 810 459)

2009 2008

Cost price 5,400,000 5,400,000
Improvements 2002 551,259 551,259

2004 5,041,314 5,041,314
2005 17,222 17,222
2006 59,530 59,530
2007 251,754 251,754
2008 3,889,380 3,889,380
2009 519,855 0

15,730,314 15,210,459

5. Intangible assets

 2009  2008 

 Cost 
Accumulated  
amortisation 

 Carrying 
 value 

 Cost 
Accumulated  
amortisation 

 Carrying 
 value 

 R  R  R  R  R  R 

Intangible asset -
  Computer software 3,359,566 694,804 2,664,762    2,191,675  237,004  1,954,671 

Reconciliation of the movement of the carrying value of Intangible 
Assets

Current year
Carrying 
value

Carrying 
value

1 April 2008 Additions Disposals
 

Amortisation 
31 March 

2009
R R R R R

Intangible asset -
  Computer software 1,954,671 1,167,891   0 457,800 2,664,762

Previous year
Carrying 
value

Carrying 
value

1 April 2007 Additions Disposals
 

Amortisation 
31 March 

2008
R R R R R

Intangible asset -
  Computer software 894,432 1,266,400   0 206,162 1,954,671
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2009 2008
 R  R 

6. Inventories
The inventory consists of consumables that have been stated at cost.  112,106  112,974 

7. Trade and other receivables
Rent  6,921  7,590 
VAT  -  298,177 
Recoverable expenditure / Debtors  1,342,429  705,493 

 1,349,350  1,011,260 
   

Credit quality of trade and other receivables
The credit quality of trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired was assessed by reference 
to historical information about counterparty default rates.

Fair value of trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables  1,349,350  1,011,260 

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Trade and other receivables which are past due are not considered to be impaired as SAQA is confident that all 
amounts outstanding will be recovered in full. At 31 March 2009 an amount of R1 349 350 (2008: R 1 011 260) was 
past due but not impaired.
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as 
follows:

1 month past due  87,339  234,629 
2 months past due  1,008,630  610,677 
>3 months past due  253,380  165,954 

 1,349,350  1,011,260 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned 
above. The Authority does not hold any collateral as security.  The trade receivables have not been discounted as 
the amount is not material.

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank account balances  1,476,230  894,652 
Petty cash  3,000  3,282 
Corporation For Public Deposits  26,697,102  28,076,723 
European Union bank balance  958,379  874,176 

 29,134,712  29,848,833 
   

The amounts reflected as European Union bank balance held by SAQA are not available for SAQA’s use as it is an amount 
dedicated to specific use specified by the European Union.

The average weekly balance of funds held at the Corporation for Public Deposits over the financial year was R32,2 million 
and the average interest rate over the same period was 10,74%.
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2009
R

2008
R

9. Deferred Income

Long-Term

Deferred Income - Long-term assets
Department of Education grant

 Opening balance 7,986,955 8,939,758
 Funds received during the year 1,083,460 1,676,825
 Transferred to income (2,561,012) (2,629,628)
 Closing balance 6,509,403 7,986,955

International governmental institutions
 Opening balance 9,338,988 11,631,495
 Funds received during the year 0 0
 Transferred to income (2,255,347) (2,292,507)
 Closing balance 7,083,641 9,338,988

   
Total 13,593,044 17,325,943
Less: Short-term portion (3,262,995) (3,664,541)
Total Deferred income - long-term assets 10,330,049 13,661,402

   

Short-Term

Short-term portion of deferred income - long-term assets 3,262,995 3,664,541
Foreign Qualifications Evaluation and Advisory Services 1,272,960 1,811,700
Commonwealth Secretariat 0 157,416

4,535,955 5,633,657
Joint Implementation Projects 5,319,377 5,273,411

  Department of Education 200,000 0
  Department of Home Affairs 125,834 0
  Department of Social Development 423,083 0
  Council for Higher Education 520,630 304,357
  Education Training and Development Practices SETA 0 163,248
  ISETT SETA 4,702 221,659
  TETA 290,308 1,388,787
  LG SETA 234,793 139,749
  INSETA 150,753 89,818
  Services SETA 1,463,921 1,237,500
  SASSETA 0 70,000
  H&W SETA 0 143,225
  WR SETA 0 272,463
  Construction SETA 771,360 0
  Public Association of Accounts Professionals 9,760 0
  Department of Sports and Recreation 168,288 186,605
  Department of Public Service and Administration 0 100,000
  Forest Industries Education and Training Authority 536,599 406,000
  CHIETA 29,345 150,000
  City & Guilds 390,001 400,000

   
9,855,332 10,907,068
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2009 2008
 R  R 

10. Trade and other payables
Trade payables  6,017,527  6,300,109 
Short term employee accruals  1,370,546  1,473,687 
VAT  31,678  - 
Other  433,439  525,810 
    

 7,853,190  8,299,606 
   

SAQA pays all its trade and other payables within 30 days in accordance with the terms of the PFMA and Treasury 
regulations.

11. Cash flow from operating activities   

Reconciliation of surplus and cash flow generated by operating activities
Surplus / (Deficit) per statement of financial performance 1,945,970 (1,360,952)
(Increase) / Decrease in trade and other receivables (338,090) 159,286
Decrease / (Increase) in inventories 868 (11,519)
Increase in prepaid expenses (32,203) (30,158)
Increase in operating lease receivable (23,462) (26,602)
(Decrease) / Increase in trade and other payables (446,416) 2,115,124
Non-cash items: Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (25,666) (3,569)
Non-cash items: depreciation and amortisation 5,429,445 5,010,153
Non-cash items: grants on assets amortised (4,816,359) (4,922,134)
Net Movement in Deferred Income 433,270 4,854,862

2,127,357 5,784,490

12. Operating leases

Leases as Lessor
SAQA leases out offices in the Hatfield building under operating leases. The future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

2009 2008
 R  R 

Less than one year  1,231,991  800,885 
Between one and five years  1,365,530  1,159,387 
More than five years  -     -   

2,597,521 1,960,272

Amount to be recognised in future periods  2,502,534  1,885,453 
Operating lease accrual recognised  94,987  74,819 

2,597,521 1,960,272

13.	 Taxation

	 SAQA is exempt from income tax in terms of section 10 (1) cA of the Income Tax Act.
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14.	 Financial instruments

	 Risk management

	 �Exposure to credit risk arises in the normal course of SAQA’s business. Exposure to currency and interest rate 
risk is minimal. SAQA has an overall risk management plan that is approved by the Authority and is reviewed 
by the Audit Committee annually. The Authority has approved written policies covering specific areas such as 
investment policy and credit risk that SAQA’s management adheres to.

	 Credit risk

	 �Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. 
Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. Where no credit 
ratings are available, SAQA assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, 
past experience and other factors. Reputable financial institutions are used for investing and cash handling 
purposes.

	 �At the statement of financial position date there was no significant concentration of credit risk.

	 �The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
statement of financial position.

	 Liquidity Risk Management

	 �SAQA manages liquidity risks by monitoring forecasted cash flows and ensuring that the necessary funds 
are available to meet any commitments which arise. SAQA further manages liquidity risk by only spending 
according to its approved budget which is fully funded. The budget is reviewed and approved annually by 
the Authority and by the Minister of Education. Cash which is not needed immediately is invested with the 
Corporation for Public Deposits. As funds are needed, the necessary cash is transferred to SAQA’s operations 
account.
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	 Interest rate risk

	 �SAQA’s exposure in terms of interest rate risk relates to the call deposit held with the Corporation for Public 
Deposits. The interest rate is updated weekly and is linked to the Treasury Bill rate. SAQA reviews the rate 
at regular intervals and compares the rate received to the rates available in the market from other large 
commercial banking institutions to ensure that it is receiving competetive rates. In terms of SAQA’s budget, the 
income derived from interest income is conservatively estimated and does not hold any major risks to SAQA. 
The funds held with the CPD are available on the same day if requested before 12h00.

	 �On an average cash balance of R27.4 million (2008: R27,9 million), a 1% rise or fall in the interest rate would 
have an effect on income of either increasing income or decreasing it by R274 000, being an effect of 0.41% of 
total income.

	 Fair values

	 �The fair values of all financial instruments are substantially identical to carrying amounts reflected in the 
statement of financial position. 

15.	 Retirement Benefit Obligations

	 �SAQA operates a defined contribution retirement plan covering all qualifying employees. The fund is governed 
by the Pension Funds Act, 1956 (Act No. 24 of 1956).

	 �The assets of the fund are held in trust under the control of the umbrella Board of Trustees of the Orion Money 
Purchase Pension Fund (SA). Old Mutual is the fund underwriter. Fund assets consist primarily of monthly 
contributions paid over to the fund on behalf of the members by the participating employers. The underlying 
assets are invested in listed shares, fixed income securities, cash and deposits.

	 �The total cost charged to income of R2,912,936 (2008: R2,728,901) represents contributions payable to the 
scheme by SAQA according to the rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

	 As at 31 March 2009 all contributions had been paid over to the scheme.
 



Fi
n

a
n

ci
a

ls
74

16. Related Parties

16.1. Identity of related parties

The entity has a related party relationship with public entities within the national sphere of government. The 
ultimate parent of SAQA is the government, represented by the Department of Education.

Transactions with members of SAQA consists of remuneration and is disclosed in Note 3 to the financial 
statements and the names are detailed in the Accounting Authority Report.

2009

Transactions with SAQA’s principal departments and 
their public entities :

Grant

Funds 
received for 
Services to 
be Rendered

Balance 
Owing To / 
(Due By)

Department of Education R 37,566,000 R 200,000 R0 

Council for Higher Education  764,000 -
Umalusi  - R5,675 

Department of Labour including the following public entities under its control:
 - Services SETA  760,000 -
 - H&W SETA  300,000 -
 - SASSETA  42,000 -
 - ETDP SETA  312,500 -
 - LG SETA  250,000 -
 - INSETA  100,000 -
 - Construction SETA  2,236,500 -
 - Forest Industries Education and Training Authority  507,500 (507,500)

-
Department of Environmental Affairs & Tourism  50,000 -
Department of Sports & Recreation  370,000 -
Department of Social Development  479,250 (479,250)
Department of Home Affairs  140,000 -
Public Association of Accounts Professionals  100,000 - 

R 6,611,750 (R981,075)
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2008

Transactions with SAQA’s principal departments and 
their public entities :

Grant

Funds 
received for 
Services to 
be Rendered

Balance 
Owing To / 
(Due By)

Department of Education R 35,691,000 R 0 R 0

Council for Higher Education  648,000  - 
Umalusi  -  1,725 

Department of Labour including the following public 
entities under its control:
 - Services SETA  1,237,500  - 
 - H&W SETA  811,235  - 
 - SASSETA  130,000  - 
 - ISETT SETA  200,000 -
 - ETDP SETA  937,500 (539,460)
 - TETA SETA  300,000 (2,500)
 - WR SETA  500,000 -
 - CHIETA  150,000 -
 - THETA  - (17,100)
 - DIDTETA  - 38,719
 - Forest Industries Education and Training Authority  406,000 -
Department of Environmental Affairs & Tourism  100,000 -
Department of Sports & Recreation  250,000  - 
Department of Public Service & Administration  100,000  - 

R 5,770,235 (R518,616)

16.2. �Transactions with key management consisted of remuneration as below, excluding that of the 
Executive Officer which is disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements.

2009 2008
Other executives’ remuneration  R  R 

Deputy Executive Officer  763,023  706,503 
 - remuneration     683,302  633,622 
 - contribution to retirement plan  79,722  72,881 

Director: Standards setting (resigned 30 September 2008)  296,388  486,526 
 - remuneration  268,906  436,732 
 - contribution to retirement plan  27,482  49,794 

Director: Quality assurance (resigned 28 February 2009)  560,020  486,526 
 - remuneration  506,240  437,166 
 - contribution to retirement plan  53,780  49,360 

Director: Strategic support (resigned 31 December 2008)  471,046  557,024 
 - remuneration  423,824  499,364 
 - contribution to retirement plan  47,221  57,660 

Director: Research (deceased 23 October 2008)  368,919  483,868 
 - remuneration  335,146  431,729 
 - contribution to retirement plan  33,773  52,140 

Director: Finance and administration  798,182  716,560 
 - remuneration  718,544  644,887 
 - contribution to retirement plan  79,638  71,673 

Director: Foreign Qualifications Evaluation and 
Advisory Services (appointed 1 January 2009)

 123,233  - 

 - remuneration  107,626  - 
 - contribution to retirement plan  15,607  - 
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Director: Information technology  721,858  639,786 
 - remuneration  649,463  573,360 
 - contribution to retirement plan  72,395  66,426 

Director: National Learners Records Database  688,755  551,980 
 - remuneration  615,741  489,688 
 - contribution to retirement plan  73,014  62,292 

Director: Human resources  688,754  637,735 
 - remuneration  614,575  569,689 
 - contribution to retirement plan  74,179  68,046 

   

 5,480,178  5,266,509 
   

17.	 Subsequent events

	 �There were no subsequent events of any material significance after 31 March 2009.

18.	 Accounting estimates and judgments

	 �After due consideration management believes that the accounting policies used are appropriate and estimates 
made are reasonable.

19.	 Investment Property

	 �The Authority sub lets a portion of the SAQA House building but has decided not to treat this property as an 
investment property as the Authority occupies a significant portion of the building for administration purposes. 
Accordingly, the leased floor space is treated as an operating lease of property, plant and equipment.

20.	 Contingent Liabilities/Assets

	 The Authority is not aware of any contingent liabilities or assets that existed as at 31 March 2009. 

21. Commitments
21.1. Project Commitments 2009 2008

The Authority has already committed to the following projects for 
the coming financial year:  R  R 

-  Joint Implementation Plans  4,798,747  4,969,054 
-  CHE Database Project  520,630  304,357 

 5,319,377  5,273,411 

	 21.2.	 Other Commitments
	 	 �The Authority has already committed to the following projects for the coming financial year:
	 	 -  �Repairs to the brick façade of the South East corner of the SAQA House building. The repairs will be 

funded from the existing budget
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22.	 Public Finance Management Act

	 �The Authority is not aware of any material losses during the year from any criminal conduct and has not 
incurred any irregular, unauthorised or fruitless and wasteful expenditure during the financial year. It has 
therefore not had to carry out any criminal or disciplinary steps in light thereof. 

	 The Authority has assessed the levels of materiality to be 
	  - any amount which arises from criminal conduct
	  - �R10 000 and above which results from irregular, fruitless or wasteful expenditure caused by gross 

negligence; or
	  - �R250 000 and above, being approximately 0,5% of gross revenue in respect of irregular, fruitless or 

wasteful expenditure caused by any other circumstance

	 �SAQA received R37 566 000 (2008: R35 691 000) from the government during the year of which R1 083 460 
(2008: R1 676 825) was used for capital expenditure and R36 482 540 (2008: R34 014 175) for personnel and 
administration. No financial commitments were made on the government’s behalf.

23. Accounting Standards
Implementation 

Date    
Applicable / N/A

The following statements and interpretations are not yet effective and 
have not been applied in preparing the financial statements of SAQA. 
The effect of the changes to the financial statements of SAQA, if any, 
once implemented, will not be material.

*  GRAP 4 The Effects of changes in Foreign Exchange Rates  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 5 Borrowing Costs  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 6 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 7 Investments in Associates  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 8 Interests in Joint ventures  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 10 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationery Economies  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 11 Construction Contracts  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 12 Inventories  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 13 Leases  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 14 Events after the reporting date  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 16 Investment Property  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 17 Property, Plant and Equipment  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 18 Segment Reporting  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  �GRAP 19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  GRAP 23 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 24 Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*  �GRAP 100 Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations  1 April 2009  Applicable 

*  GRAP 101 Agriculture  1 April 2009  N/A 
*  GRAP 102 Intangible Assets  1 April 2009  Applicable 
*�  �IPSAS 22 Disclosure of Financial Information about the General 
Government Sector    Applicable 

*  IFRIC 8 (AC 440) Scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment  N/A 
*  IFRIC 9 (AC 441) Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives - No Impact  No Impact 
*  IFRIC 11 (AC 443) IFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share transactions  N/A 
*  IFRIC 12 (AC 444) Service Concession Agreements  N/A 



Glossary of abbreviations and acronyms

ABET Adult Basic Education and Training
APAC Association of Public Accounts Committees
ASGISA Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa
BBBEE Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment
CEEQ Centre for the Evaluation of Educational Qualifications
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CHE Council on Higher Education

CHIETA Chemical Industries Sector Education and Training Authority
CIDA Canadian International Development Agency
CoL Commonwealth of Learning
DoE Department of Education
DoL Department of Labour

DPSA Department of Public Service and Administration
DQAD Directorate: Quality Assurance and Development
DSSD Directorate: Standards Setting and Development
EPP Employment Promotion Programme

ETDP SETA Education, Training and Development Practices Sector Education and Training Authority
ETQA Education and Training Quality Assurance body
EU European Union
FET Further Education and Training
GET General Education and Training

HEQC Higher Education Quality Committee
HESA Higher Education South Africa
HR Human Resources
HRD Human Resource Development
I & IT Information and Information Technology
IIP Investors in People
JIP Joint Implementation Plan
JIPSA Joint Initiative on Priority Skills Acquisition
MOU Memorandum of Understanding
MQA Mining Qualifications Authority
NEPAD New Partnership for Africa’s Development
NLRD National Learners’ Records Database
NQF National Qualifications Framework
NSB National Standards Body

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PESSA Public Employment Services of South Africa
PFMA Public Finance Management Act
PQM Programme Qualifications Mix
RPL Recognition of Prior Learning

SADC Southern African Development Community
SADTU South African Democratic Teachers’ Union
SAQA South African Qualifications Authority
SETA Sector Education and Training Authority
SGB Standards Generating Body
SQL Structured Query Language
SRSA Sports and Recreation South Africa
TETA Transport, Education and Training Authority
XML Xtensible Markup Language
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Programme Purpose and Measurable Objectives

Programme 1: Administration and Support

Purpose: This programme covers the activities of the Executive Office and the following 
Directorates: Finance and Administration, Human Resources, Information Technology and 
Strategic Support.

Measurable 
objectives: 

	 Partner major stakeholders to ensure systemic coordination, coherence and resource 
alignment to the benefit of learners in line with and responsive to national education 
and training imperatives.

	 Advise and inform policy makers on all matters relating to the NQF and education 
and training in South-Africa

	 Conduct research, monitor and undertake evaluation studies that contribute to the 
development of the NQF.

	 Conduct ongoing strategic advocacy and raise awareness of the NQF. 
	 Represent South Africa on international qualification framework forums and support 

the development of qualification framework initiatives, especially SADC and NEPAD.
	 Ensure effective governance and the aligned development of human, financial 

and infra-structural resources, to support the achievement of the organisational 
objectives.

	 Support targeted education, training and development communities to become 
effective leaders in NQF best practices through providing client-focused information 
services to support the implementation of the NQF.

Programme 2: Standards Setting

Purpose: 	 Partner major stakeholders to ensure systemic coordination, coherence and resource 
alignment to the benefit of learners in line with and responsive to national education 
and training imperatives.

	 Provide professional expertise to ensure that high-quality, nationally relevant and 
internationally comparable qualifications and unit standards are registered on the 
NQF.

Measurable 
objectives: 

	 Ensure the continuing development of a sustainable and dynamic standards-setting 
system for the NQF

	 Provide leadership, strengthen and deepen the quality of Standards Setting and 
Qualifications registration

	 Advocacy for the NQF and its standards-setting system to stakeholders and the wider 
public

	 Support national initiatives relating to skills development through the generation and 
registration of quality qualifications and standards

	 Position DSSD as a knowledge-based Directorate responsive to the nation’s training 
needs and objectives.
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Programme 3: Quality Assurance

Purpose: •	 �Provide professional expertise through systemic monitoring, evaluation, reporting and reviewing of 
education and training for continuous quality improvement.

Measurable objectives: •	 �Provide leadership and professional expertise and engage quality assurance bodies of education and 
training on quality assurance policies and processes for implementation.

•	 �Monitor and evaluate the implementation of the systems on a systemic level and propose changes for 
continuous quality improvement.

•	 �Review systemic level quality assurance and implement changes for continuous quality improvement
•	 �Engage with the Department of Labour to assist the Department’s SETA Support Unit in implementing 

the National Skills Development Strategy in establishing a quality assurance body for economic sector 
ETQAs.

•	 �Fulfil a supporting role within SAQA to engage with the relevant stakeholders in strategic advocacy 
for the new NQF.

Programme 4: National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

Purpose: Maintain and further develop the National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD) as the key national source of 
information for human resource development in policy, infrastructure and planning. 

Measurable objectives: •	 Populate the NLRD with all available data, ensure that it is of acceptable quality and manage it 
appropriately.  Ensure availability of previously inaccessible data.

•	 Ensure that SAQA has the authority to gather this data.
•	 Provide appropriate system and application tools to exploit the research potential of the NLRD, 

including the development of key reports and services.
•	 Provide a service for the verification of the achievement of registered qualifications by South African 

learners.
•	 Ensure system support other than OnLineDBA for the NLRD.
•	 Support all of SAQA’s objectives

Programme 5: Evaluation of Foreign Qualifications

Purpose: Maintain and develop SAQA’s role as the national recognition information centre for foreign and domestic 
learning and qualifications.

Measurable objectives: •	 Build infrastructure and resources to adequately support the information role and evaluation function 
of the unit.

•	 Build strategic relationships to enhance the function, expand capacity and build a favourable 
environment.

•	 Monitor and coordinate, where relevant, national, regional and international perspectives and 
developments in the field.

•	 Provide leadership:
o	 On a national basis with regard to the general evaluation of foreign qualifications in South Africa.
o	 On a regional basis with regard to the role of a national recognition information centre.

•	 Advocate SAQA as the national recognition information centre for foreign qualifications.
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Summary of budget/expenditure per programme

Programme Budget for 2008/9 Budget
Expenses

for 2008/9
Nett

Programme 1 Administration and Support   37,460,108   32,747,792 4,712,316 

  1.1 Executive Office including Secretariat  6,437,112 6,203,476 233,636

  1.2 Finance and Administration   9,693,622 8,662,247 1,031,375

  1.3 Human Resources   2,840,679 2,536,908 303,771

  1.4 Information Technology   7,494,133 6,596,305 897,828

  1.5 Strategic Support 6,879,265 6,334,607 544,658

    1.5.1 Communications  

    1.5.2 Resource Centre  

  1.6 Research   4,115,297 2,414,249 1,701,048

Programme 2 National Standards Setting and Development 15,664,375 15,630,222 34,153

     

Programme 3 National Quality Assurance and Development 3,916,605 2,932,616 983,989

     

Programme 4 National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)   4,711,432 3,633,679 1,077,753

     

Programme 5 National Centre for the Evaluation of Foreign 12,204,480 10,956,997 1,247,483

  Qualifications  

     

   

 Totals             73,957,000 65,901,306 8,055,694
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

Finance and 
Administration
Maintain effective and 
efficient financial and 
facilities management

1.	 Support strategic 
decision-making 
through financial 
scenario planning 
and maintain 
effective and 
efficient financial 
and facilities 
management 

•	 To generate three budget scenarios 
for the strategic plan

•	 The 2009/10 strategic plan was 
developed and included three 
financial scenarios.

•	 To receive an unqualified audit 
report

•	 An unqualified audit report was 
received from the Auditor-General 
for the 2008/9 financial year.

•	 To produce monthly management 
accounts

•	 Monthly Management accounts given 
to Directors.

•	 Monthly Management reports 
are given to the SAQA Executive 
Committee, the Finance Committee 
and the SAQA Board meetings. 

•	 A quarterly narrative and financial 
report is provided to the Department 
of Education.

•	 To ensure that finance policies and 
procedures are in place and are 
reviewed at least once in every 
three- year cycle

•	 Several finance policies were 
reviewed during the year and 
presented to and approved by the 
SAQA Board.

2.	 Effectively 
operate a cash 
management 
system that 
ensures adequate 
cash flow to 
enable the 
organisation 
to meet all 
commitments in 
respect of the 
timely execution 
of operations 

•	 To maintain a positive cash flow at all 
times.

•	 The cash management system 
functions well, as evidenced by 
the internal audits carried out and 
the healthy cash balance on the 
Management Accounts as presented 
to the Finance Committee. 

•	 To maintain good relationships with 
donors and departmental finance 
officials

•	 Funds are invested and managed 
well, as evidenced by Interest Income 
being in excess of that budgeted for.

•	 Weekly cash reports are produced 
and are available.

•	 To secure additional funding for 
specific projects

•	 A number of Joint Implementation 
Plans, funded by partner 
organisations, have been signed.

•	 To pay creditors promptly as per 
National Treasury Regulations

•	 Payments are made to Creditors 
within 30 days of receiving the 
invoices.

3.	 Effectively 
monitor and 
control the 
procurement 
operations to 
ensure that the 
organisation is 
able to meet all 
commitments in 
respect of the 
prompt execution 
of approved 
operations.

•	 �To ensure that procurement policies 
and procedures are in place and 
monitored at least once in every 
three-year cycle

•	 Supply Chain Management Policy 
and Procedure were put place.  The 
Policy and Procedure were reviewed 
and a number of changes made to 
ensure optimal effectiveness.

•	 �The CFO must ensure that all 
documentation is in place prior to 
payment of suppliers

•	 Continuous monitoring was 
undertaken by the Supply Chain 
Management section and CFO, as 
evidenced by the signing off of all 
Briefing Notes.

•	 To receive unqualified audit reports •	 Credit notes were obtained from the 
Government Printers after discovery 
of incorrect invoicing on their part.

•	 Training and support on matters 
such as the preparation of tenders 
were provided to all Directorates by 
Supply Chain Management division.

•	 The Supply Chain Management 
division assisted directorates with 
the preparation of scorecards (where 
relevant) to identify appropriate 
Suppliers in terms of the Supply 
Chain Management  Policy and 
Procedure.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

4.	 Maintain an 
effective and 
efficient system 
that ensures 
accurate 
recording 
of financial 
information and 
relevant and 
prompt reporting 
of the results 
of operational 
activities, 
meeting all 
legislative 
and donor 
relationships 

•	 To segregate duties between 
capturing and posting of 
transactions on the accounting 
system to ensure accuracy

•	 Staff who post transactions check all 
batches of the preparer for accuracy 
before posting.

•	 To print outstanding Purchase Order 
reports and followed up on them at 
least quarterly.

•	 Finance Supervisor distributed 
Outstanding Purchase order reports 
monthly to all Directorates for 
scrutiny and follow up.

•	 To produce and present monthly and 
quarterly financial information and 
reports 

•	 Monthly Management reports are 
submitted to the Finance Committee 
and to the Directors.  These reports 
are available. Any feedback is noted 
and action is taken to remedy any 
misallocations or errors.

•	 Compile quarterly reports on JIP-
funded projects.

•	 A quarterly narrative and financial 
report is provided to the Finance 
Committee and to the Department of 
Education.

•	 The reports of the internal auditors 
have reflected that SAQA’s internal 
controls are both adequate and 
effective.

•	 Quarterly reports are  prepared and 
presented to all JIP Partners.

5.	 Facilitate the 
occupational 
health and safety 
of SAQA staff

6.	 Facilities 
management and 
safeguarding the 
assets of SAQA

•	 SAQA meets health and safety 
requirements. Annual review of 
health and safety issues in the SAQA 
House building is conducted.

•	 SAQA has developed the necessary 
policies and procedures, including 
the appointment of SAQA staff to the 
Emergency Management Task Team 
Committee.

•	 To ensure that SAQA’s assets are 
secure and operational.

•	 The survey on Electrical efficiency 
usage within the building has 
been completed and a report with 
proposals has been obtained.

•	 SAQA maintains an accurate and up-
to-date asset register.

•	 SAQA’s Facilities Management 
division managed and monitored the 
outsourced security and cleaning 
functions of the SAQA House 
building. The cleaning services 
tender and a new security services 
tender for a three-year period were 
awarded during the current financial 
year.

7.	 Train and 
assist non-
financial staff 
to understand 
and use financial 
systems, 
information and 
reports (includes 
King 1 & 2, 
PFMA, PPPFA, 
& Treasury 
regulations)

•	 �Senior members of staff are able to 
prepare annual budgets and explain 
budget variances on a monthly 
basis.

•	 The senior management of SAQA 
worked with the CFO in the 
compilation of their annual budgets. 
Directors were responsible for 
managing their respective budgets.

•	 ��To provide appropriate informal 
training for both financial and non-
financial staff throughout the year

•	 The Finance and Administration 
Directorate trained Directors and 
Deputy Directors by way of one-
on-one meetings, Management 
Committee meetings were held to 
ensure proper understanding of all 
appropriate financial matters within 
SAQA.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

Information 
Technology 
Ensure the 
development and 
maintenance of 
a sustainable, 
secure and flexible 
information 
technology 
environment.

1.	 Deliver a robust, 
sustainable 
secure and 
responsive 
technology 
environment that 
supports SAQA’s 
mission and 
objectives.

•	 The provision of a reliable, 
accessible and stable technology 
environment (servers to be up 95% 
of the time)

•	 Monthly reports were submitted to 
the Executive Management Meetings 
showing that all servers were up 
more than 98% of the time.

•	 The implementation of automatic 
shutdown of servers in the event of a 
power failure

•	 A system was implemented that will 
automatically shut down all servers 
in the event of a power outage.  

•	 Making regular backups of all data •	 Backups were made regularly of all 
data:  A full backup every weekend 
and incremental backups daily.  
Reports of these backups were 
reviewed daily and the results were 
filed.

•	 To provide an Information 
Technology environment that 
supports SAQA’s mission and 
objectives by providing four 
integrating IT solutions:  Prioritising 
at least two interventions

•	 Projects to integrate SAQA’s IT 
systems with the business to ensure 
maximum efficiency were continued.  
This includes the customisation of 
the new LMS system, the addition 
of the HR category to the Briefing 
Note system, the introduction of 
the Goldmine customer complaints 
management system and a module 
of the CEEQ system to integrate 
SAQA’s Post Office system with the 
CEEQ system. 

•	 To replace hardware that is older 
than three years and no longer 
efficient

•	 All desktop computers older than 
three years were replaced (total of 
38 desktop computers and three 
laptops).

•	 To acquire servers to host 
virtualisation, and to acquire and 
implement VMWare software by 
virtualiing at least eight servers.

•	 Two new servers were purchased to 
be used as hosts for virtual servers.  
VMWare software licenses were 
purchased and were used to create a 
total of 10 virtual servers on the two 
new servers.

•	 To test, review and update the 
Business Continuity Plan annually

•	 A Disaster Recovery Test was 
conducted in February 2009 and 
the results were very positive. 
The Business Continuity Plan was 
maintained throughout the period 
and it is currently being revised.

•	 To ensure that SAQA IT systems are 
able to continue functioning in case 
of a major disaster

•	 The Authority approved SAQA’s 
acquisition of the use of a Disaster 
Recovery Site in March 2009. The 
contract will commence on 1 April 
2009.

•	 To review and update all IT policies 
once every three years, ensuring that 
new laws, regulations and rules are 
not compromised

•	 The existing IT policies on 
Information Security and Electronic 
communications were reviewed and 
updated. 

•	 To create new policies, where 
appropriate, to ensure proper 
governance

•	  A new Policy on Change Control was 
created and has been approved.

•	 A draft policy on Business Continuity 
has been approved by MANCOM 
and will be submitted to the I&IT 
committee and the Authority for 
approval in the new financial year.

•	 To monitor security systems on a 
monthly basis to ensure that the 
security and other systems provide a 
safe environment for IT systems

•	 Monthly Health checks have 
continued during the year with 
regular upgrades to the Antivirus an 
Anti-spam systems.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

•	 New, more effective air-conditioning 
units have been acquired to protect 
the IT equipment in the server room.

•	 To review and update the IT 
architectural framework annually to 
ensure strategic alignment to SAQA’s 
mission and objectives

•	 The plan is under review and will be 
presented to the I & IT committee for 
approval in the new financial year.

2.	 Build and 
integrate 
modular systems 
that support the 
core business 
and integrate 
into existing 
technology. 

•	 To optimise all current applications 
in order to increase the productivity 
of SAQA staff as required

•	 All software was upgraded to the 
latest available versions, thus 
ensuring maximum productivity, for 
example VIP, AccPac, Lotus Notes, 
Oracle and AIX (operating system for 
the IBM servers).

•	 To design or purchase a complaints 
management system for SAQA.

•	 The Goldmine Helpdesk system was 
acquired and customised to serve as 
a complaints management system 
for SAQA.  

•	 To integrate the two major 
applications in order to make 
effective use of current applications.

•	 A single sign-on system was 
implemented at SAQA by integrating 
Microsoft’s Active Directory and 
IBM’s Lotus Notes.

•	 To build at least four applications to 
meet the standards set out in the IT 
architectural framework.

•	 Software development continued 
with the completion of the CEEQ 
template-driven evaluation system, 
reports for the CEEQ system, the 
integration of the CEEQ system 
and SAQA’s Post Office System, 
the HR briefing note module, the  
customisation of the Learning 
Management System (LMS) and 
upgrades to the NQF Gateway and 
the SAQA Community Gateway.

•	 To continue with the implementation 
of a CRM System

•	 The Goldmine system was 
implemented as a stakeholder 
management tool and was 
customised to meet SAQA’s needs in 
terms of its business processes.

•	 To continue to converge the voice 
and data capability of SAQA

•	 Where feasible, all new telephone 
extensions were equipped with 
digital phones (a total of 15 digital 
phones were installed).

3.	 Build a service-
delivery 
capability to 
ensure that the 
availability and 
capacity of the 
information 
technology 
infrastructure 
meets the 
desired service 
levels of each 
business unit.

•	 To customise IT systems to enable 
the measuring of performance 
against Operation Level Agreements 
(OLA’s)

•	 IT systems were customised to 
measure IT Performance against the 
OLA’s. 

•	 To sign an OLA with at least 
one directorate and report on 
IT performance against the OLA 
monthly

•	 An Operation-level Agreement 
(OLA) was signed between IT and 
the NLRD, and monthly reports were 
submitted to the EMM.

•	 To review and manage all support 
contracts by way of monthly 
meetings and/or reports to ensure 
that agreed service levels have been 
met,

•	 Monthly meetings were held with 
the suppliers  Faritac, Praxis and 
Nashua, and monthly reports were 
received from Aves, ClickIt, First 
Technologies and MySolutions.

•	 To ensure that an optimal 
organisational structure exists to 
support customers

•	 The Capacity of the IT Directorate 
was extended by employing a 
Deputy Director and two learners.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

4.	 Build a 
learning team 
by providing 
performance 
management and 
opportunities for 
development.

•	 To recruit and maintain a motivated 
staff complement by developing 
career paths for all staff

•	 Career paths and Broad Banding 
grids were developed for all staff in 
positions of AD and below.

•	 To plan, design and implement 
each individual’s performance 
management contract and personal 
development

•	 Performance Management Contracts 
and Personal Development Plans are 
in place and these were reviewed 
quarterly.

5.	 Ensure financial 
control and 
effective use of 
assets

•	 To apply SAQA policies for all 
expenses

•	 All IT expenses were within budget 
and in accordance with SAQA’s 
financial policies and procedures.

•	 To report to the Finance and I 
& IT Committees on application 
development and capital 
expenditure

•	 Quarterly reports on application 
development and capital 
expenditure were submitted to both 
the Finance and I & IT Committees.

Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual

Programme 1: Administration and Support

Human Resources
To ensure 
the optimum 
development and 
support of SAQA staff 
in line with best HR 
practices.

1.	 Ensure adequately 
and appropriately 
organised 
training and 
development for 
all staff to ensure 
the acquisition 
of the necessary 
skills, knowledge 
and attitudes.

•	 To achieve a 100% identification of 
skills gaps through the use of  a 
performance Development Plan 
(PDP)

•	 Organisational core competencies 
were defined and incorporated in 
all personal development plans 
with a view to aligning training 
interventions to address the skills 
gap.

•	 To implement, within a single 
financial year, at least 80% 
of training and development 
interventions in line with the 
organisational needs

•	 Training and development 
interventions are being planned and 
implemented in accordance with all 
individual performance development 
plans.

•	 Total cost of interventions: 
	 -	 total 2% of staff cost
	 -	 study assistance 0.13 %
	 -	 �Workshops, courses and seminars 

1.87  % 
•	 A Learner Management System 

was acquired and customised to 
assist with the administration 
and coordination of training. 
This system was piloted in the 
financial year under report and will 
be implemented in the 2009/10 
financial year

•	 A total of four learnerships ranging 
from IT to Administration were 
implemented and 14 learners are 
currently enrolled.

2.	 Drive a 
performance 
and  recognition 
culture

•	 To monitor at least 80% of the 
Performance Management 
Development System assessment 
to ensure that staff performance 
targets are met

•	 Performance is monitored  by way 
of quarterly reviews in terms of the 
PDMS System to ensure continuous 
improvement.

•	 Continuous feedback and coaching 
are provided on performance 
through the quarterly performance 
feedback cycles.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

•	 To ensure that qualifying staff 
are rewarded through the 
implementation of broadbanding

•	 Senior managers who met the 
required performance standards 
were successfully broadbanded 
and two Directors and two Deputy 
Directors progressed to the next 
levels on the BB scales.

•	 To conduct at least one survey per 
annum as a monitoring tool for 
commitment/motivation levels of 
staff satisfaction

•	 The Investors in People (IIP) audit 
was conducted in November 2008 
and SAQA was awarded the full 
IIP standard. This is indicative of 
a high level of staff satisfaction 
with management practices and 
training and development within the 
organisation.

3. �Ensure the 
recruitment 
and retention 
of adequately 
qualified staff

•	 To recruit and appoint highly skilled 
personnel to fill all vacancies. 
Consideration will be given to 
candidates with potential. 

•	 Ten appointments and 13 
promotions of suitably qualified 
staff were made within planned 
timeframes  (see also EE strategy 
below).

•	 Timeframes were generally met, 
except in cases where scarcity and 
specialised skills requirements 
necessitated different approaches 
to recruitment, e.g. DD: Finance; 
DD: HR; DD: NLRD, and Director: 
Research.

•	 To reduce staff turnover by at least 
2% below the national average 
turnover percentage

•	 The staff turnover in the year under 
review was 18%, compared to the 
national average of 12.8%. The 
finalisation of the NQF Review and 
imminent changes to the system 
played a role in the increased staff 
turnover at SAQA.

4. 	Provide an 
effective and 
efficient support 
and administration 
function	
efficient support 
and 	
administration 
function

•	 To implement the Employee Self-
service (ESS) system to manage the 
administration of personnel records 
more effectively

•	 The VIP Human Resources Module 
was upgraded to include the ESS, 
which provides improved HR 
functionality in order to, inter 
alia, manage the administration of 
personnel records, leave and access 
to information more efficiently.

•	 To revise all policies and procedures 
to ensure that they are in line with 
HR best practice and current labour 
legislation

•	 HR policies and processes were 
revised to ensure that they are 
in line with the organisation’s 
Employment Equity strategy and 
labour legislation. These  included 
Disciplinary Procedure, Acting 
Allowance, Grievance Procedure, 
HIV & AIDS Policy, Leave Policy, 
Probation Policy, Relocation Policy 
and Succession Planning.

5. 	Counsel and 
advise staff and 
management on 
the promotion of 
healthy employer-
employee 
relations, building 
functional teams 
and encouraging 
staff motivation. 

•	 To reduce grievances raised by 
employees

•	 Various counselling and leadership 
coaching interventions involving 
managers took place with the aim 
of enhancing employer-employee 
relationships, including guidance on 
conducting feedback sessions for 
performance reviews, proactively 
managing non-conformance to 
expected standards and dealing with 
discipline.  

•	 Directors and Deputy Directors 
received training on disciplinary 
procedures.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

•	 To ensure that no cases are lost at 
the CCMA

•	 One dispute declared by an 
employee was referred to the CCMA 
for resolution and an amicable 
solution was reached.

•	 Structured and regular meetings 
were held with employee 
representatives to proactively deal 
with labour relations matters.  

•	 Improved one-on-one feedback 
meetings were held between 
managers and subordinates to 
proactively deal with issues before 
they became grievances.

6. �Coordinate 
Employee Wellness 
interventions

•	 To develop an effective and 
sustainable model of employee 
wellness for SAQA

•	 In-depth research and 
benchmarking into Employee 
Wellness was conducted in order to 
develop an effective and sustainable 
model for the organisation. This 
will be implemented during the 
2009/2010 financial year.

•	 To deal with employee wellness 
issues on case-by-case basis while 
developing the model,.

•	 Two staff members were referred for 
psychological counselling to deal 
with specific wellness-related stress 
management issues identified in the 
workplace.

•	 One staff member received 
appropriate counselling and 
proceeded on ill-health retirement.

7. �Maintain and Retain 
Investors in People 
Standard  

•	 To ensure that all managers  
consistently apply and follow up on 
the IIP Action Plan

•	 With the focus on individual 
development, frequent 
communications took place between 
managers and staff. The quarterly 
staff reviews done by managers 
addressed areas identified by the IIP 
assessment.

•	 A long-service award policy was 
developed and will be implemented 
in 2009/2010 to further improve 
employee recognition and reward.

•	 To develop an HR page on the SAQA 
Community Gateway, in addition to 
other forms of communication

•	 An HR page was developed on the 
SAQA Community Gateway, as well 
as a plan showing how the page will 
be used effectively to communicate 
HR-related matter to all SAQA staff. 

•	 To ensure that staff training and 
development become one of the 
key performance indicators for all 
managers

•	 Learning and development was 
continuously managed through 
Personal Development Plans by all 
managers.

•	 To achieve, together with managers, 
at least an 80% implementation of 
identified and registered training 
and development plans

•	 All managers implemented their 
training and development plans 
and reported on their learning and 
development activities, including 
equality of opportunity.

•	 As required by the Skills 
Development Act, SAQA submitted 
its workplace skills plan and reports 
against it to the ETDP SETA.



90

Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:	 Administration and Support

8. �Coordinate the 
implementation of 
Employment Equity 
Strategy

•	 To achieve a 100 % recruitment 
figure in line with the organisation’s 
employment equity plan

Employment Equity Strategy
•	 Recruitment of staff was in line 

with the organisation’s Employment 
Equity plan and targets for 2007- 
2009 .

•	 Despite the strategy of back-filling 
vacancies that occurred during the 
reporting period with temporary 
and/or fixed-term contacts, the EE 
trend was in line with the plan. 

Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:  Administration and Support

Strategic Support
Communication
To advocate and 
market the NQF, and 
SAQA as the guardian 
of the NQF

1.	 To provide 
strategic 
advocacy and 
communication 
direction with 
respect to:
• �the 
identification 
and 
development of 
key messages;

• �the selection 
of targeted 
audiences from 
both the public 
and private 
sectors, as well 
as the public at 
large; and

• �the re-
engineering 
of SAQA’s 
image and 
role within the 
education and 
training sector 
and other 
appropriate 
target 
audiences

•	 To implement the comprehensive 
Communications Strategy

•	 The Communication Strategy Plan 
was rolled out. Important documents 
were circulated to key stakeholders 
and the following items  were 
produced and disseminated:
-	 1700 posters 
-	 15 000 flyers on the evaluation 

of foreign qualifications  and on 
the NLRD Trends report

-	 10 000 bookmarks. 
•	 SAQA forged links with the National 

Press Club and various media 
initiatives were completed, resulting 
in SAQA receiving favourable media 
coverage: 114 print reports and 28 
broadcast (radio and television) clips.

•	 The database of stakeholders was 
reviewed and increased. There 
are currently 2 917 entries on the 
database.

•	 To develop an advocacy campaign 
strategy to communicate the NQF to 
the public

•	 An NQF Advocacy Campaign Task 
Team was established. It consists of 
representatives from SAQA, Council 
on Higher Education, Umalusi, the 
Department of Labour/Quality 
Council for Trades and Occupations 
and a contracted communication 
agent, Lesoba Communication. 
An advocacy campaign strategy 
was developed and is due to be 
implemented in September 2009. 

•	 To extend communication to include 
business as a target market as well 
as NQF partners

•	 The SAQA database has been 
refined to include stakeholders, 
and particularly women, from the 
business world. These stakeholders 
receive regular publications and are 
invited to attend events.

•	 Links have been established with 
partner organisations such as 
Council on Higher Education, Umalusi 
and the Department of Labour/
Quality Council for Trades and 
Occupations to ensure the success of 
the NQF advocacy campaign.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:  Administration and Support

2.	 To produce 
quality, 
appropriate 
and targeted 
publications 
that effectively 
and efficiently 
enhance 
understanding 
and 
implementation,  
and to build 
positive 
perceptions 
of the NQF 
and SAQA in 
accordance with 
the overall plan.

•	 To produce an Annual Report of 
good quality by August 2008

•	 3 000 copies and 500 CDs of the 
Annual Report were printed in 
August 2008. It was launched at the 
unveiling of the Dance of Learning 
sculpture on 17 September 2008 and 
distributed to stakeholders.

•	 The Annual Report was tabled in 
Parliament and was approved.

•	 To publish three editions of the 
SAQA Update

•	 Volume 11 No. 1 and Volume 11 Nos 
2 & 3 (double edition) were published 
in the year under report. Volume 11:1 
dealt with the new Fourth Authority, 
the implications of the NQF Bill 
and  international developments in 
Qualifications Frameworks. Volume 
11: Nos 2&3 covered researching 
work and learning, information 
systems and online learning, and 
SAQA’s research programme, 
SAQA’s input to the Commonwealth 
of Learning, the unveiling of the 
sculpture and the launch of the 
2007/2008 Annual Report.

•	 To publish two Conference 
Proceedings

•	 Conference proceedings were 
published: Chairperson’s lecture 
2008; Career Guidance.

•	 To publish three  research reports •	 The impact of CCFOs on curriculum, 
pedagogy and assessment in 
ABET; The NQF and its worlds, and 
Qualitative and quantitative analysis 
of the ETQA performance audits were 
published.

•	 To produce three promotional 
publications to promote SAQA and 
NQF-related issues

•	 Four promotional brochures 
produced:
-	 Quality qualifications
-	 What does CEEQ do?
-	 NLRD trends
-	 Client service standards

•	 To produce publications according 
to SAQA policy guidelines

•	 All SAQA publications were produced 
according to SAQA policy guidelines.

3.	 To host and 
participate in 
strategically 
selected events 
and activities 
that promote the 
advancement of 
the values of the 
NQF and SAQA

•	 To host the Annual SAQA 
Chairperson’s lecture

•	 This lecture, presented at the 
Rosebank Hotel on 30 September, 
was attended by 140 delegates. 
The theme was Career Guidance: 
Challenges and Opportunities

•	 To host the SAQA NQF Colloquium •	 This event was held on 28 October 
and was attended by 200 delegates 
from the education, labour and 
training sectors. A publication titled 
Learning@Work will be published by 
June 2009.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:  Administration and Support

•	 To host eight international 
delegations to share ideas relating to 
the NQF 

•	 SAQA hosted 10 international 
delegations from the following 
countries:  
-	 Eritrea (16 May 2008);
-	 Sudan (25 June 2008);
-	 Namibia (29 July 2008);
-	 Ethiopia (25 & 26 August 2008);
-	 Tanzania (26 August 2008);
-	 Ghana (2 September2008);
-	 Palestine (6 October 2008);
-	 China (12 January 2009);
-	 Nigeria (25 February 2009)
-	 Vietnam (4 March 2009);

�The purpose of hosting these delegations 
was to enable SAQA to share the lessons 
learnt in the South African context, 
and also to learn from other countries 
regarding NQFs and related matters.

Promotional events:
•	 To participate in eight focused 

exhibitions to promote the 
SAQA brand and to disseminate 
information and publications

•	 SAQA participated in the following 
10 exhibitions:
-	 Department of Sports & 

Recreation, 
	 13-14 February 2009
-	 Science Unlimited,
	 3-7 March 2008
-	 Umalusi exhibition, 
	 10-14 March 2009
-	 Shercon, 15 -17 April 2008
-	 BMF Career Expo, 
	 18-19 April 2008
-	 National Science Week, 
	 12-16 May 2008
-	 SASCE, 19-22 May 2008
-	 HRDA 2008, 4-6 June 2008
-	 IEB Conference, 9 July 2008
-	 Pan-African Conference, 
	 20-22 August 2008 

The purpose of participating in these 
exhibitions was to position SAQA as a 
custodian of the NQF and to showcase 
SAQA products and achievements. 
The events also afforded SAQA an 
opportunity to distribute publications 
and to add new contacts to the existing 
database.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:  Administration and Support

•	 To host a series of four RWL  
seminars with leading authorities 
to form a strong nodal point to 
promote ongoing collaboration, 
capacity building and credible 
outputs for research into work and 
learning. 

•	 SAQA, the Insurance SETA, the 
Durban University of Technology 
(DUT) and the University of the 
Western Cape (UWC) co-hosted 
four seminars in Gauteng, KZN and 
the Western Cape to deliberate 
further on the Researching Work and 
Learning Conference held in Cape 
Town in December 2007. The first 
seminar dealt with work-integrated 
learning and was presented by Mr 
Shakeel Ori, Director: Cooperative 
Education, DUT. The second, which 
focused on career guidance, was 
presented by Prof. Tony Watts, a 
founding member of the National 
Institute for Careers Education and 
Counselling in the UK. The third 
seminar, titled ‘learning@work’, was 
presented by Prof. Knud Illeris from 
the Danish University of Education 
in Copenhagen. The fourth seminar 
focused on women, work and 
learning: the impact of violence, and 
the keynote speaker was Dr Jenny 
Horsman from Canada.

•	 To launch the ETQA Qualitative and 
Quantitative Analysis Report 

•	 The launching of Quantitative and 
Qualitative ETQA report was held at 
the Sheraton Hotel on 25 November 
2008, and was attended by 140 
delegates. 

•	 To organise the unveiling of the 
sculpture and the launching of the 
SAQA Annual Report

•	 This event, held at the Association of 
the Arts Museum on 17 September 
2008, was attended by 120 
delegates. It included the unveiling 
of a sculpture, donated  to SAQA, 
and the launch of the 2007/2008 
Annual Report.

•	 To organise a Career Guidance 
Workshop with relevant stakeholders

•	 The Career Guidance Workshop,  
held at SAQA House on 4 September 
2008, was attended by 25 delegates.  
The purpose of the workshop was to 
discuss the career guidance proposal 
developed for SAQA.

•	 To host a special event to position 
SAQA and to inculcate team spirit 
among SAQA staff members

•	  Walk the Talk was held on 27 July 
2008. A total of 83 SAQA staff 
members participated and the event 
had the dual purpose of positioning 
SAQA and acting as a team-building 
initiative.
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Programme 1:  Administration and Support

Strategic Support
Information services
The primary source 
and distributor of 
NQF and related 
information in SA and 
worldwide 

1.	 Maintain and 
improve the 
wide range of 
communication 
and capacity-
building 
interventions 
that have been 
developed to 
effectively and 
appropriately 
facilitate a deep 
understanding 
of the NQF and 
SAQA

•	 To review and update the content of 
the NQF Gateway

•	 During the reporting period, a 
project was undertaken to further 
develop the NQF Gateway by 
updating and aggregating, and by 
developing new and summarised 
content for this portal in line with 
the needs of its various users. The 
objective of the project was to 
package and present the content 
of the NQF Gateway in easy-to-
read chunks that are customised to 
address the needs of the various 
users of the NQF Gateway, such as 
education and training providers, HR 
practitioners, learners, SETAs and 
ETD practitioners in general.

•	 To increase the number of registered 
users by at least 1 500

•	 The number of registered users 
increased from 3 109 to 4 851.

•	 To conduct a monthly update of 
contents of the SAQA website and 
ensure that relevant and accurate 
information on SAQA and the NQF is 
available

•	 At least one new article was placed 
on the What’s New section of the 
website every third week. These were 
articles on SAQA and the NQF and 
the latest developments in these and 
related areas, including information 
about new legislation and joint 
communiqués issued by SAQA, 
Department of Education and the 
Council on Higher Education. Notices 
for public comment are placed on 
the site at the same time as they 
are published in the Government 
Gazette. The website was used to 
advertise the post-RWL seminars 
hosted by SAQA, the Insurance SETA, 
the Durban University of Technology 
and the University of the Western 
Cape.

•	 To use the website to pro-actively 
disseminate information to 
stakeholders and the public, and 
increase the number of subscribers 
to at least 12 000.

•	 One of the ways in which SAQA 
disseminates information to 
stakeholders and the public is by 
means of the SAQA e-mail alert. 
This alert informs subscribers of the 
latest news and information on SAQA 
and the NQF. During the reporting 
period 2 650 new subscribers were 
registered. The total number if 
subscribers is now 13 042.

•	 To implement the NQF Support 
Link marketing strategy to increase 
awareness of and enrolment on the 
NQF Support Link programmes

•	 The NQF Support Link was actively 
marketed during the year under 
review. Seven advertisements were 
placed in print and online media and 
the NQF Support Link was marketed 
at five exhibitions. This resulted in a 
minimum of 10 enquiries per week 
by e-mail and telephone.
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Programme 1:  Administration and Support

•	 To monitor, on a monthly basis, the 
delivery of the NQF Support Link 
programmes by the Publisher 

•	 The year under review also saw a 
concerted effort to market the NQF 
Support Link to SETAs, Government 
Departments, FET Colleges and 
corporate organisations. Five SETAs 
subsequently enrolled their staff and 
stakeholders on the NQF Support 
Link programmes, one FET College 
purchased 15 NQF Support Link 
boxes for its staff, and 50 employees 
from the banking sector attended 
the NQF Support Link workshops.

•	 A total of 35 workshops were 
held and were attended by 332 
participants.

•	 An NQF implementation toolkit, 
entitled ’Aligning Learning 
Programmes to Unit Standards’, 
was produced. This booklet, 
accompanied by a CD-ROM, forms 
part of the NQF Support Link 
resources designed to support the 
implementation of the NQF.

•	 Quarterly Steering Committee 
meetings between SAQA and 
eDegree, the Publisher, were 
held to discuss project plans and 
progress. eDegree submitted 
monthly progress reports which 
included reports on the workshops 
conducted.

2.	 Effectively 
support the 
NQF-focused 
work of SAQA 
through the 
collection, 
management and 
dissemination 
of high-quality 
information 
resources and 
services

•	 To further develop the Resource and 
Information Centre stock by sourcing 
material that cover relevant and new 
topics

•	 During the reporting period, 
71 books were purchased and 
subscriptions to various online 
databases, newspapers and to 
21 journals were renewed. These 
publications deal with education, 
training, development and related 
topics. In preparation for staff 
seminars that were held at SAQA 
as part of the post-RWL seminars, 
the Centre collected material on 
career guidance, learning at work, 
and women and violence, as well 
as books and articles written by 
Tony Watts, Knud Illeris and Jenny 
Horsman. 

•	 To keep all staff informed about 
current developments in legislation 
and policy that affect SAQA and the 
NQF

•	 News items on recent developments 
pertaining to SAQA and the NQF, 
and to education, training and 
development in general, are made 
available to all staff members on 
the Community Gateway. Articles 
from newspapers and other sources 
specifically relevant to management 
were copied and distributed to them.
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Programme 1:  Administration and Support

3.	 	Offer client-
focused 
information 
services to 
NQF partners, 
stakeholders 
and the general 
public

•	 To ensure that the reception and 
switchboard services are enhanced 
through training and development 
to provide efficient service to 
stakeholders and the general public

•	 Capacity building for the receptionist 
and those who do relief duty at 
Reception was done during the 
reporting period. The relief duty 
staff members were trained in 
customer service and telephone 
etiquette skills. The receptionist 
attended workshops on the NQF 
to increase her knowledge, thus 
enabling her to provide efficient 
service to callers and visitors.

Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:  Administration and Support

Research
•	 	Advise and inform 

policy makers 
on all matters 
relating to the 
NQF.

•	 	Make 
recommendations 
regarding 
remedial and 
development 
work by 
conducting, and 
commissioning 
research 
on national 
imperatives, 
NQF impact, 
NQF legislation 
and policy 
development and 
implementation 
to meet the 
objectives of the 
NQF.

1.	 To advise the 
Ministers and 
inform policy-
makers on all 
matters relating 
to SAQA and 
the NQF by 
conducting, 
commissioning, 
publishing and 
presenting 
research 
on: national 
imperatives; 
NQF impact; 
NQF legislation 
and policy 
development; 
and NQF 
implementation

To produce six research reports on:
•	 Critical Cross-field Outcomes in 

ABET

Research reports:
•	 A report on Critical Cross-field 

Outcomes in ABET has been 
published

•	 Graduate Attribute survey •	 A report on Graduate Attribute 
survey has been completed

•	 Trends in SGB qualification 
registration and uptake of 
qualifications

•	 Trends in learner enrolments and 
achievements on SGB qualifications

•	 Two reports on the analysis of SGB-
generated qualifications have been 
submitted

•	 The NQF and its Worlds •	 A report on the NQF and its Worlds 
has been published

•	 Aspects of Quality in Education and 
Training in South Africa

•	 A monograph on the Aspects of 
Quality in Education and Training is 
a work in progress.

2.	 Maintain and 
further develop 
a collaborative 
education and 
training research 
agenda with 
the purpose of 
enhancing the 
implementation 
of the NQF

•	 To organise one NQF conference •	 Professor Knud Illeris (from 
Denmark), the world’s leading expert 
on Researching Work and Learning 
was the keynote speaker at the 2008 
4thNQF Colloquium and presented 
a seminar on workplace learning to 
selected academics and researchers 
at a workshop held for SAQA staff.

•	 To organise a 4th  NQF colloquium 
to be attended by national and 
international experts, policy-makers 
and implementers 

•	 A collaborative research agenda has 
been established and partnerships 
with WITS and Rhodes Universities 
have been maintained. SAQA has 
also established partnerships with 
UWC, UKZN and JET Education 
Services.

•	 To maintain and establish further 
research partnerships 

•	 An NQF research Committee has 
been established and has held its 
5th Research Committee Meeting.
Workshops on the RU partnership 
and on RWL were held at UWC. 
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Programme 1:  Administration and Support

•	 To establish and maintain a NQF 
Research Forum

•	 To support and participate in the 
Work and Learning Conference

•	 SAQA will present a symposium on 
NQFs as part of the Researching 
Work and Learning Conference  to 
be held in Denmark in June 2009. 
Four SAQA staff members and two of 
our partners will participate in this 
conference.

•	 To organise the Chairperson’s 
Lecture

•	 The SAQA Chairperson’s Lecture 
on career guidance was presented 
in 2008 and a report on the 
proceedings was subsequently 
published

•	 To support WITS students •	 SAQA has awarded three M.Ed. 
scholarships to students at WITS.

3.	 Participate in 
and contribute 
to international 
NQF forums to 
enhance NQF 
implementation 

•	 To attend and present 2 papers 
at local and two at international 
education and training conferences

•	 SAQA staff presented papers at 
two local conferences and two 
international conferences: 1) The 
history of RPL and the NQF in South 
Africa, presented by Jeffy Mukora 
at a Department of Education 
RPL Colloquium; 2) SAQA and the 
NQF at the threshold of a new 
era, presented by Jeffy Mukora at 
the Kenton Conference; 3) and 4) 
The impact of learnerships and 
apprenticeships for the MERSETA, 
also presented by Jeffy Mukora 
at the Cairo Conference; and 5) a 
paper on the NQF, presented by Prof. 
Parker at a conference in Argentine. 

•	 To publish four papers in academic 
journals

•	 SAQA staff submitted seven 
articles in academic journals: 1) 
Understanding learning, assessment 
and the quality of judgements by 
Ian Moll (submitted to Education 
as Change); 2) Transparency and 
specification: thoughts occasioned 
by reading Allais’ The Rise and Fall 
of the NQF by Ian Moll (submitted to 
the European Journal of Education; 
3) The parameters of a community 
of expert assessment practice by 
Ian Moll (submitted to Educational 
Assessment; 4) SAQA and the NQF at 
the threshold of a new era by Jeffy 
Mukora (submitted to the Journal 
of Education)’ 5) The impact of 
learnerships and apprenticeships: a 
case study for the MERSETA by Jeffy 
Mukora (submitted to the Journal 
of Development Effectiveness); 
6) Insights from a South African 
research programme by Heila Lotz-
Sisitka (accepted for publication in 
an international book on Turning 
workplace learning inside out; and 
7) Theory matters: Developing 
a conceptual framework for a 
workplace learning and sustainability 
practices research programme by 
Heila Lotz-Sisitka (submitted to the 
Perspectives in Education Journal).
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 1:  Administration and Support

•	 To establish a ‘Research Page’ on the 
SAQA/NQF Gateway website

•	 The Research Page on the SAQA/
NQF Gateway website has been 
established

4.	 Support, oversee, 
conduct and 
collaborate 
in studies 
commissioned by 
the Directorates.

•	 To collaborate with CEEQ and 
produce an ethnographic study 
report

•	 An ethnographic study of CEEQ is 
underway and will be completed in 
2009

•	 To collaborate with NLRD in the 
analysis of Standards Generating 
Bodies (SGB)- generated 
qualifications and produce two 
reports

•	 Two reports, on trends in SGB 
qualification registration and 
uptake of qualifications, and 
trends in learner enrolments and 
achievements on SGB qualifications 
respectively, were submitted and are 
being worked on by the Research 
Directorate in collaboration with the 
NLRD.

•	 To hold three seminars with SAQA 
staff

•	 The research directorate held 
four seminars with SAQA staff: 
1) Communities of Practice and 
ethnographic studies by Ian Moll; 
2) Knud Illeris’ model of workplace 
learning by Jeffy Mukora; 3) Change-
oriented workplace learning and 
sustainable development practices 
by Heila Lotz-Sisitka; and 4) 
Learning in working life by Knud 
Illeris.

Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 2:  Standards Setting 

Partner major 
stakeholders to 
ensure systemic 
coordination, 
coherence and 
resource alignment 
to the benefit of 
learners in line 
with the national 
Human Resource 
Development 
Strategy.

Continue to 
provide leadership 
and professional 
expertise to ensure 
that high quality, 
nationally relevant 
and internationally 
comparable unit 
standards and 
qualifications are 
registered on the 
NQF.

1.	 Ensure the 
continuing 
development of 
a sustainable 
and dynamic 
Standards-
setting system 
for the NQF.

•	 To ensure an increase in the 
number and scope of donor-funded 
Joint Implementation Plans (JIPs) 
processes and the signing of five 
new JIPS 

•	 Eight new JIPs were signed. The 
scope also increased from 144 to 
215 qualifications contracted for. 

•	 To ensure the sharing of SAQA’s 
financial commitment to the 
standards-setting process so as 
to decrease the burden on the 
Authority by ZAR 20m

•	 Through working with the JIP 
funding we have decreased 
SAQA’s ‘GO1’ funding contribution 
and increased the JIP funding 
commitments to ZAR 29,023,000.00

•	 To develop at least four new 
relationships with new stakeholders 
to support standards setting

•	 DSSD has extended its JIP process 
to international partners, including 
the Commonwealth of Learning 
and City & Guilds, SAMDI (now 
PALAMA) and the Department of 
Social Development. DSSD has also 
increased its JIPs with National 
Government Departments, thus 
extending its relationships from the 
traditional SETA-based JIPs.

•	 To maintain and further develop 
a database of experts and 
stakeholders 

•	 During the reporting period, DSSD 
continued to maintain its database 
of experts and stakeholders and has 
seen an increase of 47 new names 
as qualifications and standards have 
been developed in different sectors.
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Programme 2:  Standards Setting 

•	 To ensure that consultative 
processes, including Consultative 
Panels are more broad-based and 
higher education is more involved. 
All Narrow Consultation processes 
must include higher education 
representation.

•	 Consultative processes have become 
more broad-based, both through 
the narrow consultation processes 
of qualifications generation and 
the Consultative Panels. All process 
reports submitted to SAQA clearly 
document the inclusion of higher 
education in all qualifications 
development. All qualifications 
above Level 5 are automatically 
submitted to higher education for 
comment. 

2.	 Provide 
leadership, 
strengthen 
and deepen 
the quality 
of Standards 
Setting and 
Qualifications 
registration.

•	 To ensure that all reviewed 
qualification process reports show 
that mapping/scoping is undertaken 
in important sectors as identified in 
the Human Resource Development 
Strategy

•	 Of 142 the qualifications 
registered, 53 were reviews of 
currently registered qualifications. 
All qualifications reviews were 
documented as informed by 
feedback from Education and 
Training Quality Assurance bodies 
(ETQAs) and providers. Scoping and 
mapping were an integral part of the 
generation process in order to align 
standards and qualifications with 
the Human Resource Development 
Strategy. 

•	 To encourage, initiate and sustain 
donor-funded JIPs to support 
sectoral needs. An additional five 
JIPs to be signed with stakeholders.

•	 Given the reduced budgets available 
for standards generation by DSSD, 
eight additional sectors were 
encouraged to partner SAQA through 
JIPs to support the development 
of standards and qualifications as 
required.

•	 To ensure that partners and 
stakeholders identify their Scarce 
Skills and partner SAQA by 
prioritising their qualifications and 
standards development

•	 SETAs, government departments 
and professional bodies continued 
to identify scarce skills in their 
sectors and to partner SAQA in 
meeting the shortfall in standards 
and qualifications development and 
generation.

•	 To develop a transition plan for the 
implementation of the six-level 
Higher Education and Training band

•	 SAQA, in partnership with the 
Council for Higher Education and 
the Department of Education (Higher 
Education branch), has developed 
transitional arrangements which 
include the periodic release of 
joint communiqués to inform 
the higher education community 
of arrangements for the further 
development and registration 
of qualifications.  The delayed 
establishment of the Quality Council 
for Trades and Occupations still 
poses a challenge in terms of 
effectively dealing with the transition 
with respect to occupational 
standards and qualifications.



100

Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual

Programme 2: Standards Setting

•	 To initiate a review of the Level 
Descriptors for the General 
Education and Training/Further 
Education and Training (GET/FET) 
band

•	 DSSD has initiated a review of the 
GET/FET band Level Descriptors 
to achieve a seamless transition 
from Level 4 to Level 5 and allow 
for consultation with the emerging 
Quality Councils.

	 To develop and disseminate 
guidelines on the conduct of 
international comparability 

	 Guidelines on the conduct of 
international comparability have 
been developed and shared with 
the Standards Setting community 
(staff, consultants and Standards 
Generating Bodies/Task Team 
members).  

	 To undertake direct engagement 
with the NQF discourse in a variety 
of forums and media

	 DSSD has actively arranged and 
participated in workshops (e.g. 
with Department of Labour, 
Research Directorate) and engaged 
conceptually with current discourse 
around the NQF.

3.	 Advocate the 
NQF and its 
standards 
setting system 
to stakeholders 
and the wider 
public.

 

	 To attend and actively participate at 
all ETQA Forum meetings and NLRD 
Users forums and  various other 
forums 

	 DSSD has had continuous 
participation and representation 
at the ETQA Forum and the NLRD 
Users Forum. We also participated 
in forums initiated by education and 
training stakeholders and strategic 
partners (e.g. Artisan Development 
coordinating committee, Quality 
Council for Trades and Occupations 
regulation drafted team etc.).

	 To seek feedback from learners and 
providers through the ETQAs  

	 Review and revision of currently 
registered qualifications was 
informed by feedback from ETQAs 
which is actively sought.

4.	 Support national 
initiatives 
relating to skills 
development 
through the 
generation and 
registration 
of quality 
qualifications 
and standards.

	 To enhance SAQA’s relationships 
with at least two NQF partners. DSSD 
represents SAQA at Department 
of Education and Department of 
Labour. 

	 DSSD personnel sat on and 
contributed to at least three 
of critical stakeholder bodies 
(Department of Education CMC, 
Department of Labour ADCC, Quality 
Council for Trades and Occupations 
Regulations drafting team, etc.). 

	 To initiate a process to rationalise 
currently registered unit standards 
and to rationalise at least ten 
qualifications and associated unit 
standards

	 DSSD continues to rationalise 
currently registered unit standards 
to make them more generic. The 
Gmet process illustrates this and has 
registered at least ten qualifications 
with standards.

	 To continue with the development of 
at least five generic qualifications in 
the HET Band to subsume the bulk of 
ex-interim qualifications 

	 This has been done and the Law, 
Engineering, Arts, Sciences and 
Social Sciences have generic 
qualifications. Professional and 
Statutory Bodies (e.g. Nursing, 
Architecture) have also used this 
approach to set qualification 
standards for their sectors.

	 To mitigate the proliferation of 
qualifications in at least three 
sectors by developing generic 
qualifications with specialisations

	 This has been done and is 
exemplified by the development 
of qualifications in Management, 
Welding, Timber Processing and 
Construction. 

	 To develop an equivalence grid 
to support the alignment of 
qualifications and legacy standards

	 In collaboration with other 
directorates, DSSD has developed 
an equivalence grid which will 
contribute significantly to the 
alignment process for qualifications.
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Programme 2: Standards Setting

5.	 Position DSSD as 
a knowledge- 
based 
Directorate 
responsive to 
the nation’s 
training needs 
and objectives.

	 To fully inform staff on a range 
of issues in regular meetings and 
briefings (weekly briefings, one staff 
meeting per month and feedback 
from Qualifications and Standards 
Committee,EXCO and Authority)

	 Weekly staff meetings and briefings 
are held regularly to keep staff 
informed.

	 To conduct ongoing capacity 
building with regard to the skills 
and knowledge required to become 
‘experts’ in the standards-setting 
environment

	 One-on-one sessions are regularly 
held with staff to provide feedback 
on qualifications and standards 
submitted to improve quality and to 
build capacity.

	 To maintain a full complement of 
staff

	 Adequate human resources were 
sustained.      

	 To partner with the Research 
Directorate to enhance conceptual 
development of the standards-
setting system

	 DSSD has engaged with the 
Research Directorate, responding 
formally to academic debates (e.g. 
constructivism vs. behaviourism in 
qualifications design), and papers 
(e.g. Matseleng Allais’ broadside 
against NQF implementation), 
and has initiated inter-directorate 
workshops on issues such as ‘Level 
Descriptors’. This has served to 
enhance the conceptual development 
of both individual staff members and 
the system.

	 To develop communities of practice 
to share best practices

	 Reference groups and communities 
of practice are thriving as the 
continuous feedback model of 
Narrow Consultation is implemented.

	 To enhance staff development and 
training with a view to knowledge 
production. Staff to attend at least 
10 relevant courses

	 Staff members attended more than 
15 developmental training courses, 
registered for academic study 
and engaged in both internal and 
external debates. 

Output Measure/Indicator Target Actual

Programme 3:  Quality Assurance

Provide leadership 
and professional 
expertise and 
engage with quality 
assurance bodies 
of education and 
training on quality 
assurance policies 
and processes of 
implementation.

1.	�Provide leadership 
and professional 
expertise and 
engage with 
education, training 
and quality 
assurance bodies  
on the policies 
and processes of 
implementation to 
ensure systemic 
alignment with 
respect to and 
unblocking of:

	 •  ��Accreditation of 
providers 

	 •  �Quality 
assurance of 
delivery 

	 •  �Simplification of 
quality assurance 
processes.

•	 �To reach the required level of 
agreement on accreditation and quality 
assurance processes for education and 
training 

•	 �Attended strategic workshops with 
Department of Education and Umalusi 
to seek agreement on inter alia 
accreditation and quality assurance 
processes.

•	 �Attended standardisation meetings 
with Umalusi.

•	 �Engaged with Council on Higher 
Education on a Memoranda Of 
Understanding (MOU) solution.

•	 �To evaluate differences and similarities 
between models for provider 
accreditation and quality assurance

•	 �Attended Working Group 2 and 
Working Group 3 of Department of 
Labour.

•	 �To create models and give feedback to 
relevant stakeholders that allows for 
articulation and progression

•	 �Evaluated quality assurance model 
and made inputs on challenges and 
implementation difficulties with 
reference to accreditation and quality- 
assurance models.
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Programme 3:  Quality Assurance

2.	�Monitor and 
evaluate the 
implementation of 
the systems and 
procedures on 
a systemic level 
for effectiveness, 
efficiency, economy 
and impact.

Performance Audit: 
•	 �To develop a ‘Performance Auditing’ 
model that meets requirements of the 
NQF

•	 �A model for Performance Audit was 
developed, workshopped with ETQAs 
and implemented.

•	 �To monitor implementation on a 
system-wide basis for consistency

•	 �31 Performance Audits were completed 
and audit reports and a report on the 
trends analysis were issued.

•	 �To provide individual audit reports on 
implementation findings to Education 
and Training Quality Assurance bodies 
(ETQAs) and the Authority

•	 �The uptake of the qualifications 
project report was completed.

•	 �To prepare an overall report on 
findings with suggestions to unblock 
identified blockages in the system

•	 �A qualitative and quantitative analysis 
of the ETQA performance report was 
produced and published.

3.	�Review systemic 
models of quality 
assurance for 
consistency across 
ETQAs.

•	  �To undertake a review of systems and 
processes 

•	 �A system-wide monitoring of 
assessment and moderation practices 
was undertaken.

•	 �To develop a report on the findings 
and submit it to the relevant ETQAs/
Councils.

•	 �The report was tabled at the ETQA 
Committee meeting and the ETQA 
Forum meeting.

•	 �To implement the recommendations of 
the review

•	 �To review legislation, and more 
specifically Regulations, Criteria and 
Guidelines where required in order to 
address possible standard drift

4.	�Engage with the 
Department of 
Labour  to assist 
in implementing 
the Quality Council 
for Trades and 
Occupations.

	� Support 
implementation 
with: Policies and 
Procedures. 

Integration:
•	 �To study the model of quality 
assurance and make inputs made 

•	 �The Quality Assurance model of 
Department of Labour was studied and 
verbal inputs were made at various 
working group meetings.

•	 �To evaluate the proposed model for 
integration/linking with other models

•	 �Inputs were made taking into account 
models proposed by Council on Higher 
Education  and Umalusi, with the aim 
of possible linking.

5.	�Fulfil a supporting 
role within SAQA 
to engage with 
the relevant 
stakeholders in 
strategic advocacy 
for the new NQF.

•	 �To form part of the SAQA wide 
advocacy campaign on promoting 
the NQF principles with the aim of 
consensus building and in alignment 
with the SAQA strategic imperatives 
with the focus on:

	 -	 �an integrated approach towards 
the models of accreditation and 
quality assurance

	 -	 �fulfilment of the NQF principles of 
access, progression, articulation 
and portability within the new 
system

•	 �The performance audit system is 
aimed at promoting the NQF principles 
as it tested delivery at the level of the 
provider and learner.

•	 �Meetings with Umalusi, the 
Department of Education  and the 
Department of Labour were all aimed 
at reaching consensus on an integrated 
approach to promote principles of 
access, progression, articulation and 
portability.
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Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

Maintain and further 
develop the National 
Learners’ Records 
Database (NLRD), 
as the key national 
source of information 
for human resource 
development in policy, 
infrastructure and 
planning.

1.	 Market the NLRD 
to identified key 
clients in the 
public and private 
sector.

•	 To undertake an HR development 
information needs analysis of one 
targeted government department, 
public research institutions, JIPSA 
and the private sector.

•	 Participation in JIPSA continued via 
SAQA’s EO, including the utilisation 
of NLRD information, with specific 
interest in trade and artisan issues

•	 JIPSA commissioned research into 
whether the NLRD could become 
the National Dataset on Skills. The 
outcome was positive and it was 
decided that the NLRD would form 
the basis and model for the new 
database.

•	 Needs analyses and reports 
commissioned by DPSA and DEAT 
were undertaken.

•	 To investigate partnerships with three 
key data sources 

•	 SAQA continued to assist the 
Department of Labour’s Employment 
Services of South Africa (ESSA) 
Project.

•	 The Director: NLRD continued to 
represent SAQA on the Department 
of Education’s Education Data 
Standards1 Committee.

•	 It was agreed with Statistics South 
Africa that SAQA would join the 
National Statistics System and 
would work towards the NLRD being 
declared official statistics.

•	 To develop a  publication plan •	 The plan for producing and 
disseminating publications 
was further developed, and 
implementation continued.

•	 To produce a  key HR analysis report •	 The report on trends in learner 
enrolments and achievements of new 
qualifications registered since the 
inception of the NQF was compiled 
by the consultant working with the 
NLRD and Research Directorates. The 
bulk of the work has been completed 
and the process of producing the 
report has commenced.

1 When the Standards are gazetted, they are referred to as “Requirements”.

2.	 �Populate the 
NLRD with all 
available data, 
ensure that it is of 
acceptable quality, 
and manage it 
appropriately.  

	 •	 �Ensure 
availability 
of previously 
inaccessible 
data.

	 •	 �Ensure that 
SAQA has the 
authority to 
gather this data.

•	 �Legislation enacts that SAQA, via the 
NLRD, has the authority to ensure 
access to, and quality of data required 
for the NQF.

The major Indicator is that the NLRD 
contains data that is accurate, complete, 
clean and up to date.

The major measurements are:
The NLRD’s outputs (reports, NLRD 
outputs serving at SAQA meetings, 
services, searchable databases and 
tracking devices such as the ETQA League 
Table), coupled with exception reports 
and gap reports produced specifically to 
check the problems and gaps

•	 �The NQF Act included the NLRD’s 
mandate for data collection and 
custodianship.

•	 �NLRD representatives attended the 
meeting held between the Quality 
Council for Trades and Occupations 
Project members and SAQA during 
March 2009, where aspects of 
cooperation between Department of 
Labour and SAQA were examined in 
terms of information management.

•	 �The URL, www.saqa.org.za/nlrdinfo, 
was maintained and developed; 
provider information was updated 
every 24 hours and Edu. Dex updates 
once per quarter.
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

Key projects:
•	 Communication with data suppliers 

including 31 Education and Training 
Quality Assurance bodies (ETQAs)

•	 Two ongoing data-testing and 
loading are planned

•	 NLRD identification and filling of 
gaps, including:
further historical ETQA data

•	 ETQA data (historical and current)
-	 Minimum Standard

o	 A total of 26 ETQAs 
demonstrated that they 
were consistently able to 
meet the Minimum Standard 
for data submission to the 
NLRD.  

o	 Two major loads were done 
during the reporting period.

-	 Two League Tables to measure 
ETQAs’ success rates were 
utilised:
o	 In February 2009, 26 ETQAs 

achieved green status on 
the Compliance League 
Table (which measured 
compliance with the 
Minimum Standard);

o	 A total of 11 ETQAs 
achieved green status on 
the Performance League 
Table for the same period.

-	 The six NLRD Partners Forum 
meetings, held during the 
year,addressed how data 
suppliers could optimise their 
data-submission process.  
Information to assist them with 
this was also added to the NLRD 
Load Specifications for ETQAs.

-	 Data suppliers continued to use 
the Edu. Dex data-testing tool.

-	 Information Administrator 
Learnership at ETQAs:
o	 SAQA continued to 

support the single ETQA 
with an incumbent on the 
Information Administrator 
Learnership, who was 
managing data destined for 
the NLRD, and to encourage 
other ETQAs to take on 
learners. 

•	 To undertake four historical 
data projects for learners and 
achievements

•	 Historical ABET data
-	 The project with UNISA, which 

involves downloading their data 
and assisting them with their 
own database, continued. In 
excess of 200 000 records have 
been prepared for loading onto 
the NLRD.

•	 New ABET data: Kha Ri Gude
-	 Over 300 000 records were 

prepared for loading onto the 
NLRD, which was expected to 
take place during April 2009.

•	 Historical Technikon data
-	 Work continued on loading 

historical Technikon data.
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

•	 CEEQ data
-	 The CEEQ database was still 

not ready to create datasets for 
loading onto the NLRD.

•	 Private Provider data
-	 The Higher Education Quality 

Council Information System 
(HEQCIS) was launched for 
the project to offer intensive 
assistance to the Council on 
Higher Education’s Higher 
Education Quality Council, 
to gather Private Higher 
information in an information 
system and to load it onto the 
NLRD.   The HEQCIS Manager, 
based at SAQA, commenced 
during May 2008, and by March 
2009 approximately half of the 
more than 100 Private Higher 
Providers had become system 
users.  This entailed data 
extraction and testing, using 
load specifications and a version 
of Edu. Dex customised for this 
project.

•	 To conduct on-line data capturing of 
qualifications and unit standards

On-line data capturing of qualifications 
and unit standards 
•	 Qualifications and unit standards 

continued to be captured accurately 
and timeously.

•	 Information Administrator 
Learnership at SAQA

	 -	 �The learnership incumbents 
continued to be the NLRD’s data 
capturers of qualifications and 
unit standards.

	 -	 �The learners who had 
commenced in February 2007 
completed the Learnership with 
the best UNISA results to date.  
Four of them were to commence 
in April 2009 as permanent 
NLRD Clerks for data capturing 
and cleaning.

	 -	 �In addition, a new intake of 
six learners commenced in 
February 2009.

•	 Learning programmes continued to 
be recorded on the NQF.

•	 Alerts were sent out when 
information on qualifications or 
unit standards was corrected, 
and notifications were sent 
out concerning replacement 
qualifications and unit standards.

•	 The NLRD facilitated the ongoing 
Project for Qualifications Excellence 
within SAQA to ensure that the 
information about qualifications, 
as well as their linkages to other 
elements of the NQF, was correctly 
recorded and reported upon.  This 
included preparations for the new 
10-level NQF.
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

•	 To ensure that all 50 users of the 
NLRD who are SAQA staff have 
appropriate levels of access to the 
NLRD, maintaining the balance 
between effective use and protection 
of sensitive information

User management:
•	 The levels of user access to the NLRD 

continued to be managed carefully.
•	 Users were assisted with the NLRD 

functions on request.

	 3. �Provide 
appropriate 
system and 
application 
tools to exploit 
the research 
potential of 
the NLRD, 
including the 
development 
of key reports 
and services.

•	 To produce and disseminate nine key 
reports

Key reports:
•	 NLRD National reports
•	 NLRD outputs at SAQA meetings
•	 EXCO
•	 Authority
•	 Q&S Committee
•	 ETQA Committee
•	 I&IT Committee
•	 Consultative Panel
•	 The NLRD National Trends report is 

currently being compiled.
•	 A commissioned report for the 

DPSA showed that, of the people 
in the South African public service 
who could be matched with the 
NLRD, 31.9% had their highest 
qualification at NQF Level 7.  (The 
analysis excluded Senior Certificate 
qualifications, which are at NQF Level 
4.)

•	 NLRD outputs (rather than any other 
format) continued to serve at all 
SAQA meetings.

•	 Reports were produced for all ETQAs 
(twice during the year for each), 
showing the details of the uptake (or 
lack thereof) for each qualification for 
which the ETQAs were responsible.

•	 To ensure that the NLRD is nationally 
and internationally recognised as the 
key national source of information 
for human resource development in 
South Africa

•	 More than 1 000 national and 
international queries at all levels 
were received and attended to during 
the year under review.

•	 Presentations on the NLRD were 
made to delegations from Botswana, 
Ethiopia, Tanzania and Palestine.

•	 A two-day workshop on the NLRD 
was held for a delegation from 
Namibia.

•	 A Seychelles delegate was hosted by 
the NLRD for two weeks.

•	 The Director: NLRD presented a 
workshop on the NLRD in the United 
Arab Emirates, and a proposal to 
assist them with the commissioning 
and start-up of a system such as 
the NLRD was submitted for their 
consideration.

•	 To maintain and develop key 
services, including seven searchable 
databases

•	 Seven searchable databases (on the 
SAQA website) of qualifications, 
unit standards and provider 
accreditations continued to function 
well.  An enhancement was done:
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

•	 The search for provider 
accreditations was incorporated into 
the searches for qualifications and 
unit standards, as most users had 
found it confusing to have to search 
for these separately.

•	 The related XML service functioned 
well.

•	 The standard reports on the NLRD, 
for the use of SAQA staff members, 
continued to function well.

•	 The utility used to assist DSSD to 
check whether specific qualifications 
meet the requirements for re-
registration without having to 
undergo an extensive review process 
continued to serve its purpose.

•	 To generate a projected  income of 
R300 000.00 for SAQA through NLRD 
services

•	 Several customised reports that 
generated income for SAQA were 
produced.

•	 The ESSA service generated income 
for SAQA.

•	 Other income generators were 
the XML service, SAQA’s support 
to the Information Administrator 
learnership at one ETQA, and the 
verification service.

•	 The income generated for the year 
was higher than expected as the 
Umsobomvu Youth Fund paid in 
advance.

4.	 Provide a 
service for the 
verification of 
the achievement 
of registered 
and ‘legacy’ 
qualifications by 
South African 
learners.

•	 To maintain and develop the service 
for the verification of 600 individual 
and 800 third-party learner 
achievements

•	 A total of 1 788 free verifications 
of people’s own records were 
completed for 1 636 individuals. This 
was almost three times the number 
completed in the previous year.

•	 To increase the verification service 
with a view to increasing income by 
10%

•	 A total of 2 008 third-party 
verifications concerning the 
qualifications of 
1 177 people, were completed for 
75 subscribing clients during this 
reporting period. This was more 
than double the number completed 
during the previous period.

•	 The total number of subscribing 
organisations, including many 
national and provincial government 
departments, increased to 140.

•	 The bulk verification service was 
further automated and developed, 
and was run for three clients. 

•	 A presentation on the verification 
service was given to a forum 
convened by the DPSA.

•	 The verification service generated 
income of more than R60 000 for the 
NLRD.

5.	 Ensure system 
support other 
than OnLineDBA 
for the NLRD.

To maintain and develop the data-model, 
application and data-loading scripts: 
•	 The NLRD functions efficiently and 

effectively

•	 The NLRD continued to run efficiently 
and effectively.
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

•	 SAQA staff and external service 
providers jointly ensured that the 
NLRD was well supported, that 
database administration was of the 
highest quality, that the required 
enhancements and developments 
were correctly specified and 
implemented, that disaster recovery 
measures would be available if 
required, and that the NLRD system 
continued to function robustly.

•	 NLRD enhancements continued to be 
implemented.  NLRD Version 2 was 
implemented for batch loading of 
data, while Version 1.6.6 was used 
for on-line work.

•	 Batch-load logs show that all of the 
batch-load programs continued to 
run correctly.

6.	 Support all 
of SAQA’s 
objectives

•	 To ensure that the NLRD mirrors the 
NQF Business Rules and Values at all 
times

•	 All enhancements to the NLRD’s 
load specifications and validation 
procedures were evaluated for 
consistency with the NQF Business 
Rules and Values before they were 
specified and implemented.

•	 To ensure that the NLRD contributes 
to the partnering of major 
stakeholders to ensure systemic 
coordination, coherence and 
resource alignment in overseeing 
the development of the NQF to the 
benefit of learners, in line with and 
responsive to national education and 
training imperatives

•	 The NLRD collaborated with the 
Council on Higher Education on 
the HEQCIS, participated in the 
meeting with the Department 
of Labour’s Quality Council for 
Trades and Occupations Project 
members, and hosted NLRD Partners’ 
Forum meetings, which included 
representatives from both the above-
mentioned, as well as Umalusi and 
the SETAs, where NQF issues were 
discussed.

•	 To ensure that the NLRD assists 
with supporting targeted education, 
training and development 
communities by recording 
information on the delivery of NQF 
benefits to learners and providing 
relevant reports 

•	 The NLRD received and dealt with 
(i.e. loaded or updated) 3 072 
481 records of enrolments on and 
achievements of qualifications, unit 
standards and learnerships.

•	 Reports on the loaded data, 
indicating which qualifications were 
being utilised in which sectors, were 
produced and disseminated to the 
ETQAs.

•	 To ensure that the NLRD implements 
data evaluation and capturing 
that assists with the provision of 
professional expertise in registering 
high quality, nationally relevant 
and internationally comparable 
qualifications and unit standards on 
the NQF

•	 Qualifications and unit standards 
continued to be captured accurately 
and timely, to be made available 
for public comment in the correct 
format and on the correct dates. 
They were published in all of the 
SAQA meeting documents, and their 
resultant registration was recorded 
speedily and accurately, enabling the 
SAQA website to display the correct 
information at all times.
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

•	 To ensure that the NLRD implements 
data evaluation and capturing 
that assists with the provision of 
professional expertise towards 
systemic monitoring, evaluation, 
reporting and reviewing of education 
and training for continuous quality 
improvement

•	 The records of SAQA’s accreditation 
of ETQAs to quality assure 
qualifications and unit standards 
were recorded speedily and 
accurately, enabling the SAQA 
website to display the correct 
information at all times.

•	 As per the NLRD’s Overall Objective 
and Key Objectives 1 to 4 (above) 

•	 See Objectives 1 to 4 (above). 

•	 To ensure  NLRD participation 
in advising and informing 
policy-makers and in making 
recommendations on all matters 
relating to the NQF and education 
and training in South Africa 

•	 The NLRD participated in SAQA’s 
initiatives concerning the new NQF 
Act, ensuring that the necessary 
commentary was provided 
concerning the implications for SAQA 
and for the NLRD. 

•	 To ensure NLRD participation in 
research (mostly, but not exclusively, 
quantitative) that contributes to the 
development of the NQF 

•	 The report on trends in learner 
enrolments and achievements of 
new qualifications registered since 
the inception of the NQF was written 
by the consultant working with the 
NLRD and Research Directorates. 

•	 NLRD participation in SAQA’s 
ongoing strategic advocacy (both 
by contributing relevant statistics 
and by giving presentations on what 
the NLRD offers), and advocating 
engagement with the NLRD itself in 
appropriate forums 

•	 The NLRD participated in internal and 
external meetings concerning the 
NQF Act.

•	 The NLRD contributed statistics via 
reports such as those produced for 
the DPSA and DEAT.

•	  A presentation on the verification 
service was given to a forum 
convened by the DPSA.

•	 Presentations on data-loading into 
the NLRD, and the results thereof, 
were given at SAQA’s ETQA Forums.

•	 The NLRD must provide statistics 
and information management 
consultancy in support of the 
development of qualification 
framework initiatives, especially in 
SADC and in support of NEPAD, and 
internationally 

•	 Presentations on the NLRD were 
made to delegations from Botswana, 
Ethiopia, Tanzania and Palestine.

•	 A two-day workshop on the NLRD 
was given to a delegation from 
Namibia.

•	 A Seychelles delegate was hosted by 
the NLRD for two weeks.

•	 The Director: NLRD presented a 
workshop on the NLRD in the United 
Arab Emirates and a proposal for 
assisting them to commission 
and start up a system similar to 
the NLRD was submitted for their 
consideration.

•	 The NLRD must record, with 
Qualification Class = ‘Foreign’, 
all qualifications that have been 
evaluated by CEEQ, as well as all 
learner achievements of these 
qualifications as notified by CEEQ 

•	 The CEEQ database was still not 
ready to create datasets for loading 
onto the NLRD. 

•	 The NLRD must contribute to 
effective governance and the aligned 
development of human, financial 
and infra-structural resources to 
support the achievement of the 
organisational objectives 

•	 The NLRD participated actively 
in human resource development 
strategies, by engaging in regular 
skills development and training 
courses and by consistently 
applying SAQA’s Performance and 
Development Management System.
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Programme 4:  National Learners’ Records Database (NLRD)

•	 The finances of the NLRD Directorate 
were managed according to SAQA’s 
policies and standards.

•	 The NLRD’s IT hardware and software 
and other infrastructural resources 
were managed according to SAQA’s 
policies and standards.

Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 5:  Evaluation of Foreign Qualifications

Maintain and 
develop the role of 
SAQA’s role as the 
national recognition 
information centre 
for foreign and 
domestic learning and 
qualifications.

1.	 Build infrastructure 
and resources 
to adequately 
support the 
information role 
and evaluation 
function of the 
unit.

To process an estimated number of 
30 000 applications for the evaluation of 
foreign qualifications in the financial year

•	 �The directorate received 25 811 new 
applications and reactivated 3 536 for 
further processing (a total of 

	 �29 347). With the inclusion of 
reactivated cases, a total of 31 651 
applications were processed. This 
number includes an overflow of late 
cases from the previous financial year. 
Cases opened, processed and closed 
are recorded daily on an electronic 
workflow system.

•	 �To process and respond to all 
applications for evaluation within 
the stated timelines of 10, 20 or 40 
working days, as well as 48 hours

•	 �A backlog that  persisted in the 
previous financial year due to resource 
constraints was addressed. Since 13 
June 2008 all applications hane been 
completed within the stated timelines. 
A systems failure after the recess 
caused slight delays for a few days 
twice in January 2009. Clients were 
proactively informed of this and the 
problem was resolved promptly.

•	 �The processing of  applications must 
be  supported  by adequate staffing 
and a  comprehensive workflow  
system

•	 Delivery was ensured as follows:
-	 Staffing (detail below) included 

both permanent capacity as well 
as stretch capacity in the form 
of contract workers.

-	 A comprehensive electronic 
system from which daily reports 
can be drawn to support 
tracking and performance 
measurement.

•	 �Where evaluations cannot be 
performed for whatever reason (an 
estimated 15% of all cases), this is 
communicated to clients and followed 
up.

•	 Cases that required follow-up made 
up only 13% of the total. Pending 
cases were filed separately for ease of 
reference. Records of correspondence 
were kept in client files and followed 
up at three- to six-weekly intervals. A 
dedicated appointment was made for 
this purpose.
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Programme 5:  Evaluation of Foreign Qualifications

•	 The directorate must have  the 
necessary resources to meet at least 
95% of the information needs in 
respect of both foreign and domestic 
learning and qualifications that 
it receives. An adequate range of 
materials, activities and products 
supports these.

The following infrastructure and 
resources were in place to meet 
information needs:
•	 Staffing (total complement of 58):

-	 Three evaluation teams 
consisting of a total of 12 
permanent staff members 
render professional advice in 
the form of formal evaluations, 
as well as per e-mail and 
telephone. If necessary, 
evaluations are outsourced.

-	 The client service unit 
comprises a front-desk section 
(5 people), a contact centre (8 
people) and a manager.

-	 The administration unit of 15 
includes a dedicated person 
who follows up pending cases.

•	 Systems support:
-	 A comprehensive electronic 

workflow system communicates 
information to clients upon 
registration and completion 
of their applications. This also 
provides the basis for further 
development of a knowledge 
base.

-	 Sophisticated call-centre 
technology is utilised in the 
contact centre.

-	 A dedicated mailbox, attended 
to on a full-time basis, is 
available specifically for e-mail 
enquiries related to the DFQEAS 
business.

-	 The corporate Goldmine 
complaints system records and 
tracks complaints received from 
DFQEAS clients up to resolution 
phase.

•	 Other resources:
-	 A subject-related reference 

library
-	 A database on international 

education systems subscribed 
to annually

-	 An international peer network.
•	 Information materials:

-	 Criteria and Guidelines for 
the Evaluation of Foreign 
Qualifications (available 
on the website and in the 
DFQEAS reception office and 
disseminated to stakeholders at 
meetings and other events)

-	 Application material and notices 
were revised in March 2009 
(available on the SAQA website; 
disseminated to clients via 
e-mail and fax and per hand).

-	 Frequently Asked Questions on 
the SAQA website are updated 
regularly.
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Programme 5:  Evaluation of Foreign Qualifications

•	 Actions and products:
-	 General enquiries are dealt with 

daily per telephone, e-mail and 
mail correspondence (more 
than 100 e-mails, 130 letters 
and 220 phone calls daily, on 
average).

-	 At least two enquiries from 
overseas peer organisations per 
month were responded to.

-	 Five presentations to and 
twelve meetings with partners, 
stakeholders and overseas 
visitors

-	 A total of 26 313 (first) 
Certificates of Evaluation was 
issued. This number does 
not include duplicates and 
provisional certificates.

-	 Consultancy rendered to 
Department of Education on 
the recognition of Russian 
qualifications.

-	 Directorate staff cooperated 
with SAQA’s Strategic Support 
Unit, who published and 
disseminated two articles and 
one brochure on the work of the 
unit.

•	 The service must generate sufficient 
income to support itself. This will 
result in a break-even situation.

•	�The cost to render the service in 
2008/2009 amounted to R10 972 
973.00. The total income generated 
was R15 663 960.00

2.	 �Build strategic 
relationships 
to enhance the 
function, expand 
capacity and 
build a favourable 
environment.

•	  Strong relationships of trust and 
mutual support must exist with at 
least two major stakeholders in the 
following sectors:
- public sector
- higher education

The following serve as evidence of 
the establishment and/or continuation 
of strategic relationships with major 
stakeholders: 
•	 regular contact with the Department 
of Home Affairs on issues of mutual 
interest and cooperation (e.g. statistics 
on the uptake of quota permits, 
mutual understanding of procedures, 
the sharing of information and 
consultation regarding problem cases 
and the verification of authenticity of 
SAQA certificates). This pointed out 
particular information needs at both 
regional offices and missions and 
assisted the directorate in planning 
future interactions.
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•	 There should be evidence of at least 
two instances where evaluation 
policies and practices were enhanced 
as a result of the above.

•	 at least quarterly liaison and 
consultation with the Department of 
Education

-	 Directorate: Global Partnerships: 
a number of meetings were held 
and joint action was undertaken 
in pursuit of an agreement 
with the Russian Federation 
regarding a mutual recognition 
agreement. Amongst other 
benefits, this made the DFQEAS 
revisit its evaluation criteria 
and the way in which it collects 
and analyses data and looks at 
findings.

-	 Sub-directorate: Educator 
Qualifications and Programmes: 
ongoing contact to enhance 
mutual understanding of the 
respective roles and procedures, 
as well as mutual assistance to 
resolve particular applications 
or enquiries.

•	 Important information sharing with 
Department of Foreign Affairs on 
document legalisation processes. 
Information made available by DFA will 
inform the future review of application 
procedures.

•	 Regular mutual consultation with 
Higher Education South Africa on 
the recognition of qualifications to 
access higher education. One specific 
joint visit to the Embassy of the DRC 
led to a practice of homologation by 
the Embassy in the case of dubious 
qualifications.

•	 Frequent consultation by individual 
higher education institutions regarding 
the placement of prospective students, 
the status of foreign institutions and 
procedural matters.

3.	 �Monitor and co-
ordinate, where 
relevant, national, 
regional and 
international 
perspectives and 
developments in 
the field.

•	  The evaluation function must be 
aligned with international best 
practice. This can be demonstrated in 
at least three aspects of the function.

•	 There should be at least one joint 
venture that resulted in the co-
ordination of national perspectives 
on the recognition of foreign 
qualifications into a single information 
source.

The document Criteria and Guidelines for 
the Evaluation of Foreign Qualifications, 
which forms the basis on which 
evaluation is undertaken by SAQA, is 
tailored according to central principles 
in international instruments developed 
for the recognition of qualifications. In 
addition to this:
•	 �Documentation to be included in 
applications (linked to the evaluation 
methodology) is similar to what is 
required by other evaluation agencies.

•	 �Various options for turnaround times 
are available at varying costs.

•	 �Evaluation reports reflect similar 
features on which the analyses are 
based.

•	 �Those evaluation outcomes that 
were tested against other views were 
confirmed to be correct.



114

Output Measure/indicator Target Actual

Programme 5:  Evaluation of Foreign Qualifications

•	 �A report on the recognition of 
Russian qualifications in South 
Africa was compiled to inform 
discussions between the South 
African and Russian Government on 
a mutual recognition agreement. 
This document represents the views 
of at least SAQA, the Department of 
Education, the Engineering Council 
of South Africa and Higher Education 
South Africa.

4.	Provide leadership:
	 •	�On a national 

basis, with 
regard to 
the general 
evaluation 
of foreign 
qualifications in 
South Africa.

	 •	�On a regional 
basis, with 
regard to the 
role of a national 
recognition 
information 
centre

5.�Advocate SAQA 
as the national 
recognition 
information 
centre for foreign 
qualifications.

•	 SAQA is nationally and internationally 
known and recognised as the national 
recognition information centre and 
consulted as such.

•	 This is evident from the following:
	 -	 �SAQA’s prominent role in the 

evaluation of foreign qualifications, 
based on its fulfilment of this 
function over many years, 
was confirmed in the National 
Qualifications Framework Act, 67 of 
2008.

	 -	 �The SAQA certificate of evaluation 
is still required as per existing 
immigration regulations.

•	 Application numbers and numbers 
of enquiries in this regard remain 
high (29 347 formal cases; more than 
100 e-mails, 130 letters and 220 
phone calls from the general public 
daily, on average). This included 
applications and enquiries from 
education and training institutions 
and prospective students for purposes 
of further study (the general trend 
is approximately 15%), whereas the 
service is compulsory only in respect 
of applications for work permits.

•	 DFQEAS forms part of an international 
network of national recognition 
information centres, as proven by 
frequent enquiries received from 
overseas peers and related bodies.
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